
 

Agenda - Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a 

Chyfathrebu 
Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 4 - Tŷ Hywel 

Dyddiad: Dydd Iau, 10 Ionawr 2019 

Amser: 09.30

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Steve George 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddDGCh@cynulliad.cymru
------ 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

   

2 Craffu ar waith y Dirprwy Weinidog Diwylliant, Chwaraeon a 

Thwristiaeth - yr  Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol 

(09:30 - 10:30) (Tudalennau 1 - 25)  

Dafydd Elis-Thomas AC, y Dirprwy Weinidog Diwylliant, Chwaraeon a 

Thwristiaeth  

Peter Owen, Pennaeth Yr Is-adran Amgueddfeydd, Archifau a Llyfrgelloedd 

Jason Thomas, Cyfarwyddwr Diwylliant, Chwaraeon a Thwristiaeth 

3 Cefnogi a hybu'r Gymraeg: Ymchwiliad i'r cyd-destun 

deddfwriaethol, polisi ac ehangach: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 8 

(10:30 - 11:15) (Tudalennau 26 - 45)  

Teresa Owen, Cyfarwyddwr Gweithredol Iechyd y Cyhoedd, Bwrdd Iechyd 

Lleol Prifysgol Betsi Cadwaladr 

Sue Ball, Cyfarwyddwr Cynorthwyol, Datblygu Sefydliadol, Bwrdd Iechyd 

Prifysgol Aneurin Bevan 

4 Cefnogi a hybu'r Gymraeg: Ymchwiliad i'r cyd-destun 

deddfwriaethol, polisi ac ehangach: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 9 

(11:15 - 12:30) (Tudalennau 46 - 54)  

Yr Athro Robert Dunbar, Cadeirydd, Ieithoedd, Llenyddiaeth, Hanes a 

Hynafiaethau Celtaidd, Prifysgol Caeredin  

Rónán Ó Domhnaill, Comisiynydd Iaith Iwerddon 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



Yr Athro Diarmait Mac Giolla Chríost, Ysgol y Gymraeg, Prifysgol Caerdydd  

  

5 Papurau i’w nodi 

   

5.1 Ymateb ITV Cymru Wales i ymgynghoriad Ofcom ar Ganllawiau Rhaglenni 

Electronig 

 (Tudalennau 55 - 94)  

6 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42(vi) i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod ar gyfer y mater a ganlyn: 

   

7 Ôl-drafodaeth breifat 

(12:30 - 13:00)   



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) iv o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 9

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) iv o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Diwylliant, Twristiaeth a Chwaraeon  
Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport  

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@llyw.cymru 

               Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref DET/00018/18 
 
 
Rhodri Glyn Thomas 
Llywydd 

Llyfrgell Genedlaethol Cymru 
Penglais 
Aberystwyth 

Ceredigion 
SY23 3BU 

 

llywydd@llgc.org.uk 
 

31 Ionawr 2018  
 

Annwyl Rhodri 
 
Diolch am dy lythyr dyddiedig 10 Ionawr 2018 ynghylch â chynlluniau'r Llyfrgell 
Genedlaethol i ddatblygu Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol a fydd yn dwyn ynghyd archifau 
darlledwyr amlwg yng Nghymru, gan gynnwys y BBC, ac yn creu mynediad atynt.  Rwy'n 
croesawu'r prosiect a hefyd uchelgais y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol i greu'r adnodd yma.  
 
Deallaf fod y Llyfrgell eisoes wedi derbyn cyllid datblygu Cam 1 oddi wrth Gronfa 
Dreftadaeth y Loteri a'ch bod yn bwriadu cyflwyno cynnig am gyllid Cam 2 a hefyd achos 
busnes manwl yn ystod Gwanwyn 2018. Nodaf eich bod yn gofyn am werth miliwn o gyllid 
cyfalaf gan Lywodraeth Cymru er mwyn cefnogi eich cynnig am fuddsoddiad gwerth £4.9 
miliwn gan Gronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri.  Bydd swm sylweddol o arian cyfatebol a chymorth 
ar ffurf gwasanaethau hefyd yn cael ei ddarparu gan y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol, ochr yn ochr 
ag ymgyrch i godi tua £0.5 miliwn.  
 
Fel y gallaf ystyried y cais hwn yn ffurfiol gofynnaf i'r Llyfrgell roi'r manylion canlynol i'm 
swyddogion.  
 

 Fersiynau diweddaraf cynnig y Llyfrgell am gyllid Cam 2 a hefyd achos busnes 
manwl ar gyfer Cronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri 

 Cadarnhad ynghylch pa gyfran o ddeunyddiau archif y BBC fydd ar gael ar ffurf 
ddigidol i'r Llyfrgell Genedlaethol ac i ddefnyddwyr yr hyb digidol 

 Copi o'r arolwg cyflwr sydd wedi'i gwblhau ynghylch deunyddiau archif y BBC ac 
amcangyfrif o gost unrhyw waith cadwraeth a allai fod yn ofynnol ar gyfer y casgliad  

 Cyfiawnhad o'r cynnig na fydd y BBC yn darparu unrhyw gefnogaeth barhaus na 
chyllid refeniw ar gyfer rheoli a chynnal yr archif 

Tudalen y pecyn 14

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales


 Manylion ynghylch unrhyw Femoranda Dealltwriaeth neu gytundebau partneriaeth 
ffurfiol â lleoliadau arfaethedig yr hyb digidol, crynodeb o'r hyn a gaiff ei gynnig i 
ddefnyddwyr a'r hyn y bydd modd iddynt fanteisio arno ymhob lleoliad ac unrhyw 
amcangyfrifon o safbwynt y defnydd a fydd yn cael ei wneud o'r archif.  

 Y newyddion diweddaraf ynghylch hynt y gwaith o godi arian ar gyfer y prosiect hwn, 
a chadarnhad ynghylch unrhyw gyllid (o ffynonellau heblaw am y Llyfrgell 
Genedlaethol) sydd wedi'i sicrhau.  

 
Er eich bod yn nodi yn eich llythyr na fydd gofyn i Lywodraeth Cymru ddarparu unrhyw gyllid 
refeniw ychwanegol ar ôl y cyllid ar ddiwedd y prosiect, mae gennyf bryderon ynghylch yr 
ymrwymiadau ariannol parhaus a'r ymrwymiadau parhaus o ran staff y bydd gofyn i'r 
Llyfrgell ymdopi â nhw.  Ar ôl derbyn y casgliadau bydd angen iddynt gael eu diogelu a'u 
cynnal am byth. Bydd hyn, yn anochel, yn cael effaith ar allu'r Llyfrgell yn y dyfodol i 
ddyrannu adnoddau a chynnig gweithgareddau.  
 
A fyddech cystal â rhestru'n glir yr holl gostau refeniw parhaus sy'n gysylltiedig â'r Archif 
Ddarlledu?  Dylai hyn gynnwys y costau ar gyfer cynnal a staffio'r hybs digidol; digideiddio 
at ddibenion creu mynediad /neu ddiogelu, catalogio, a darparu metadata a fydd yn galluogi 
pobl i chwilio ar-lein a darganfod; gofynion o ran storio a gofalu am gasgliadau. 
 
Rwy'n awyddus i sicrhau ein bod yn gwbl glir ynghylch effaith yr ymrwymiad hwn ar 
weithgareddau presennol y Llyfrgell a sut y caiff unrhyw benderfyniad i ddirwyn i ben 
unrhyw wasanaethau yn sgil datblygu'r Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol ei reoli.  
 
Edrychaf ymlaen at dderbyn papur briffio manwl oddi wrth fy swyddogion, a chlywed mwy 
am gynlluniau'r Llyfrgell ar gyfer y gwaith hwn cyn gynted ag y byddwch wedi darparu'r 
wybodaeth hon.  
 
Yn gywir 
 

 
Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Diwylliant, Twristiaeth a Chwaraeon  
 Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 15



Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Diwylliant, Twristiaeth a Chwaraeon  
Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport  

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@llyw.cymru 

        Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu cael gohebiaeth Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn 

arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.  

Ein cyf/Our ref: DET/00574/18  
 

Rhodri Glyn Thomas 
Llywydd 
Llyfrgell Genedlaethol Cymru 

Penglais 
Aberystwyth 
SY23 3BU 

 
 

19 Gorffennaf 2018 
 

 
Annwyl Rhodri, 

 

Diolch i ti am dy lythyr dyddiedig 5 Mehefin a’r wybodaeth am y Prosiect Archifau Darlledu. 

Hoffwn gadarnhau fy mod yn cefnogi dyhead y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol i sicrhau mynediad 

cyhoeddus i archif BBC Cymru. Rwy’n ymwybodol y byddai darparu mynediad i’r archif 

hwn yn ychwanegiad gwerthfawr at yr adnoddau sydd eisoes ar gael i ymchwilwyr yn y 

Llyfrgell Genedlaethol. Byddai hefyd yn rhoi cyfle gwych i’r Llyfrgell ddenu cynulleidfaoedd 

newydd.  

 

Erbyn hyn, mae fy swyddogion wedi cael cyfle i edrych yn fanwl ar yr wybodaeth ategol 

hon. Ond, yn anffodus, ar hyn o bryd nid oes modd imi neilltuo’r arian cyfatebol y 

gofynnwyd amdano fel rhan o gais i Gronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri. Yn wir, mae gennyf 

amheuon difrifol ynghylch a fyddai’n ddoeth i’r Llyfrgell gyflwyno cais i Gronfa Dreftadaeth 

y Loteri ar gyfer y prosiect hwn ar hyn o bryd. Rwy’n bryderus iawn pe byddai’r cais 

presennol yn llwyddiannus, y byddai’n golygu lefel o risg ariannol i’r Llyfrgell, a 

Llywodraeth Cymru fel prif gyllidwr y Llyfrgell, yn y tymor hwy nad ydw i’n credu y gellir ei 

chyfiawnhau na’i derbyn.   

 

Yn fy marn i, mae angen adolygu’r cais presennol yn drwyadl a dylid ei ail-lunio, lle bo 

angen, gan ystyried ffactorau ariannol, risg a chynaliadwyedd ochr yn ochr â’r cynlluniau 

ar gyfer mynediad ac ymgysylltu.   

 

Rwy’n gwybod y byddai hyn yn golygu na fydd modd i’r Llyfrgell anfon cais i Gronfa 

Dreftadaeth y Loteri erbyn y dyddiad a fwriadwyd. Fodd bynnag, rwy’n siŵr y byddwch yn 

cytuno fod angen strwythur cryf o’r dechrau ar brosiect mor bwysig â hwn. Mae hyn yn 

gofyn am lawer mwy o sicrwydd nad oes mwy o risgiau i’r prosiect nag o fanteision, er mor 

amlwg yw’r rheini.   

 

Tudalen y pecyn 16

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales


Rwy’n siŵr eich bod am ystyried y llythyr hwn, a thrafod ei gynnwys â’r Llyfrgellydd.  Ar ôl 

ichi gael cyfle i wneud hynny, bydd croeso i Linda Tomos drefnu cyfarfod â’m swyddogion 

yn MALD i drafod y mater hwn ymhellach. Rwy’n gobeithio, wedyn, y bydd yn bosibl i’r 

Llyfrgell fwrw ymlaen â’r prosiect hwn.  
 

Yn gywir  

 

Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 

Y Gweinidog Diwylliant, Twristiaeth a Chwaraeon  

Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 17



Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Diwylliant, Twristiaeth a Chwaraeon  
Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport  

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@llyw.cymru 

               Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and 

corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref: MA-P-DET-2863-18  
 
 
Rhodri Glyn Thomas 
Llywydd 
Llyfrgell Genedlaethol Cymru 
 
 
 

13 Awst 2018  
 

 
Annwyl Rhodri 
 
Ysgrifennaf atat yn dilyn fy llythyr dyddiedig 19 Gorffennaf ynglŷn â'r Archif Ddarlledu 
Genedlaethol.   
 
Fel y gwyddost mae'n siŵr, mae fy swyddogion wedi cwrdd â'r Llyfrgellydd a staff ar lefel 
uwch i drafod y prosiect. Gofynnodd fy swyddogion am ragor o wybodaeth, gan gynnwys 
dadansoddiad manylach o effaith ariannol yr Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol ar y Llyfrgell 
Genedlaethol o 2024 ymlaen. Mae'r holl wybodaeth hon wedi'i hadolygu'n ofalus.   
 
Ar y sail hon, nid oes modd imi neilltuo’r £1 filiwn o arian cyfalaf y gofynnwyd amdano fel 
rhan o gais am arian cyfatebol i Gronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri. Hoffwn ail-bwysleisio’r pwynt 
a wnes yn fy llythyr blaenorol - yn y tymor hir, credaf y gallai'r Archif Ddarlledu beri lefel o 
risg ariannol i’r Llyfrgell, a Llywodraeth Cymru fel prif gyllidwr y Llyfrgell, nad oes modd ei 
chyfiawnhau na’i derbyn.     
 
Hoffwn bwysleisio fy mod o blaid yr egwyddor o ddatblygu Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol 
ar gyfer Cymru. Fodd bynnag, credaf fod angen adolygu'r cais presennol yn drwyadl a 
dylid ei ail-lunio, lle bo angen, gan ystyried ffactorau ariannol, risg a chynaliadwyedd ochr 
yn ochr â’r cynlluniau ar gyfer mynediad ac ymgysylltu.  
 
Rwy'n poeni am gyflwr y casgliad. Deallaf bod yr Archif yn cael ei chadw ar hyn o bryd 
mewn amgylchiadau sy’n anaddas o safbwynt cadwraeth tymor hir archif genedlaethol; ac 
nad yw'r BBC wedi cymryd unrhyw gamau i adfer na diogelu’r archif cyn iddi gael ei 
digideiddio oherwydd cyfyngiadau amser ac arian – er bod elfennau o’r casgliad yn 
dangos tystiolaeth o ddirywiad. Er bydd arian y Loteri yn sicrhau cyfleuster storio priodol ar 
gyfer y casgliad, ymddengys mai cyfrifoldeb y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol fydd cyflawni unrhyw 
waith gofynnol i’w ddiogelu, gan gynnwys unrhyw waith adfer a fydd yn ofynnol yn y 
dyfodol, heb unrhyw ymrwymiad ariannol oddi wrth y BBC. Gallai hynny fod yn gostus tu 
hwnt.   
 

Tudalen y pecyn 18

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales


Yn ogystal â hynny, hoffwn i'r trefniadau o ran mynediad, a hyfywedd a chynaliadwyedd y 
Canolfannau Clipiau gael eu hystyried ymhellach. Rydym yn gwybod bod y disgwyliad o 
gael mynediad i wybodaeth ar adeg ac mewn man sy'n gyfleus i ddefnyddwyr yn cynyddu. 
A ellid ystyried datblygu model sy'n seiliedig ar fynediad ar-lein, yn hytrach nag un sy'n 
seiliedig ar fynediad i nifer cyfyngedig o safleoedd ffisegol?  Rwy'n meddwl bod angen 
ystyried yr agwedd hon ymhellach. 
 
Rwy'n dal i boeni’n fawr am yr effaith y gallai'r prosiect hwn ei chael ar sefydlogrwydd 
ariannol y Llyfrgell yn y dyfodol pan fydd cymorth ariannol Cronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri yn 
dod i ben yn 2023. Yn seiliedig ar yr hyn a wneir ar hyn o bryd a’r rhagdybiaethau bod y 
refeniw a geir o gymorth grant yn aros yn wastad, a chynnydd o 1% y flwyddyn mewn 
taliadau cyflog, mae'r amcanestyniadau yn nodi y bydd y cronfeydd refeniw wrth gefn yn 
dangos diffyg (o £19 mil) erbyn diwedd blwyddyn ariannol 2019-20, a bydd y diffyg hwn yn 
cynyddu i £3.242 miliwn erbyn diwedd blwyddyn ariannol 2023-24. Rhagwelir diffyg 
blynyddol o £0.986 miliwn yn 2023-24. Pan fydd y prosiect yn dod i ben, amcangyfrifir y 
bydd costau refeniw'r Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol o 1 Ionawr 2024 ymlaen yn £0.408 
miliwn y flwyddyn a byddai hynny ar ben y diffyg blynyddol o £0.986 miliwn. 
 
Rwy'n gwybod dy fod yn dymuno ymateb mwy cadarnhaol gennyf ond yn anffodus ni allaf 
gefnogi’r cais ar ei ffurf bresennol am y rhesymau a nodir uchod. 
 

Cofion, 

 
Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Diwylliant, Twristiaeth a Chwaraeon  
Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 19



Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 
Y Gweinidog Diwylliant, Twristiaeth a Chwaraeon  
Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport  

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 

 
Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  

0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@llyw.cymru 
        Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales 

 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in 

Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.  

Ein cyf/Our ref: MA-P/DET/4056/18 
 
 
Rhodri Glyn Thomas 

Llywydd 

Llyfrgell Genedlaethol Cymru 

 
 20 Tachwedd 2018  

 
Annwyl Rhodri 
 
Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol  

 

Rwy'n ddiolchgar i'r Llyfrgell am y dogfennau ychwanegol a drosglwyddwyd i'm swyddogion 

ar 12 Tachwedd ynghylch yr Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol.  

 

Deallaf y bydd y Bwrdd Ymddiriedolwyr yn trafod ac yn gwneud y penderfyniad terfynol 

ynghylch a ddylid cyflwyno'r cais i sefydlu'r Archif Darlledu Genedlaethol i Gronfa 

Dreftadaeth y Loteri ar 23 Tachwedd. Ysgrifennaf atat yn awr er mwyn sicrhau dy fod ti, yr 

Ymddiriedolwyr, a'r Llyfrgellydd Cenedlaethol yn glir ynghylch fy marn ar y mater hwn a bod 

modd i’r llythyr yma gael ei gylchredeg i aelodau’r Bwrdd cyn y cyfarfod. 

 

Nid yw fy safbwynt ar yr Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol wedi newid. Yn seiliedig ar gynllun y 

prosiect ac ar yr amcangyfrifon ariannol, rwy’n parhau i fod yn amharod i ymrwymo i'r £1 

miliwn o gyllid cyfalaf y gofynnwyd amdano, nac i roi cymorth strategol i'r Archif Ddarlledu 

Genedlaethol yn ei ffurf bresennol.  

 

Nodais yn fy llythyr ar 13 Awst fod y prosiect, yn fy marn i, yn gofyn am adolygiad ac ail-

lunio trylwyr, a bod angen cymryd camau i sicrhau na fyddai'r Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol 

yn peryglu sefydlogrwydd ariannol y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol yn y dyfodol. Ni chynhaliwyd 

adolygiad o'r fath. Rwy'n ymwybodol bod ymdrechion wedi'u gwneud i fynd i'r afael â 

chynaliadwyedd tymor hwy yr Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol drwy drafodaethau gyda BBC 

Cymru a chyda phartneriaid eraill y prosiect. Rwy’n siomedig bod y gwaith hwnnw, a’r 

gwaith arall ar flaen gynllunio ariannol, wedi ei wneud mor hwyr yn y broses.  

 

Ar sail y wybodaeth a ddarparwyd gennych, mae'n glir bod rhai o weithgareddau presennol 

y Llyfrgell yn debygol o gael eu heffeithio'n negyddol yn ystod cyfnod y prosiect a ariennir 

gan Gronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri. Nid yw'n amlwg i mi fod ystyriaeth ddigonol wedi'i rhoi i 

reoli gweithgareddau sefydledig tra bod yr Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol yn cael ei 

datblygu. At hynny, nid yw'r wybodaeth sydd wedi'i darparu am gynaliadwyedd yr Archif 

Tudalen y pecyn 20

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales


Ddarlledu Genedlaethol yn y tymor hir yn tawelu fy meddwl.  Sylweddolaf fod ewyllys da 

tuag at y prosiect gan BBC Cymru a chan bartneriaid y Ganolfan CLIP ond rwy'n dal i 

bryderu am fethodoleg y prosiect ac am yr effaith a gaiff yr Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol ar 

sefyllfa ariannol ac ar weithgareddau'r Llyfrgell pan ddaw arian Cronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri i 

ben. 

 

Rwyf bob amser wedi croesawu uchelgais y Llyfrgell i ddarparu mynediad i archif BBC 

Cymru ac i sefydlu'r Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol, ond mae'n rhaid rheoli hynny yng 

nghyd-destun cyffredinol sefyllfa ariannol y Llyfrgell a rolau a swyddogaethau eraill. Rhaid i'r 

Llyfrgell barhau i gyflawni ei swyddogaethau craidd, yn enwedig ei statws fel yr unig lyfrgell 

adnau cyfreithiol yng Nghymru. Mae'n ddymuniad gennyf weld y Llyfrgell yn datblygu ac yn 

darparu mynediad at gasgliadau newydd gan ddefnyddio dulliau cyflwyno arloesol. Fodd 

bynnag, rhaid i gynigion ar gyfer datblygiadau mawr megis creu Archif Darlledu 

Genedlaethol gael eu cynllunio a'u rheoli'n fwy gofalus yn y dyfodol.  

 

Cofion, 
 

 
Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 

Y Gweinidog Diwylliant, Twristiaeth a Chwaraeon  
Minister for Culture, Tourism and Sport 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 21



1 
 

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu  

Dydd Iau, 10 Ionawr 2019 09.00  

Yr Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol  

1. Mae'r Pwyllgor eisoes yn ymwybodol bod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi mynegi 

cefnogaeth gyson i uchelgais y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol i sefydlu Archif 

Ddarlledu Genedlaethol (ADdG).  Fodd bynnag, fel y Dirprwy Weinidog 

Diwylliant, fy nghyfrifoldeb i yw sicrhau bod y datblygiad mawr hwn yn cael ei 

gefnogi gan waith cynllunio busnes ac ariannol cadarn fel pan fydd y cyllid y 

gofynnir amdano gan Gronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri i sefydlu'r ADdG yn dod i 

ben yn 2024, gellir ymgorffori'r ADdG yng ngweithgaredd dyddiol y Llyfrgell 

Genedlaethol. 

 

2. Rhaid i'r ADdG gael ei gynllunio a'i sefydlu, ac yna'i gynnal o 2024 ymlaen, 

heb gael effaith niweidiol ar swyddogaethau presennol a sefyllfa ariannol y 

Llyfrgell Genedlaethol. Byddai'n anghyfrifol peidio â sicrhau bod y risgiau sy'n 

gysylltiedig â datblygiad mor sylweddol wedi'u nodi.  Mae'n rhesymol disgwyl 

i'r Llyfrgell Genedlaethol fod wedi gwneud cynlluniau i liniaru ar a rheoli'r 

risgiau hyn mewn hinsawdd ariannol a fydd yn parhau i fod yn anodd, ac er 

mwyn i'r cynlluniau hyn gael eu craffu a'u cytuno gan Fwrdd yr 

Ymddiriedolwyr, a'u cyfathrebu i Lywodraeth Cymru fel prif gyllidwr y Llyfrgell. 

 

3. Yn y pen draw, rhaid i'r Llyfrgell Genedlaethol feddu ar strategaeth ymadael 

gredadwy a chynllun ariannol ymlaen llaw sy'n rhoi digon o sicrwydd y bydd yr 

ADdG yn gynaliadwy pan ddaw'r cyllid prosiect i ben. 

 

4. Rwyf wedi bod yn gohebu â Llywydd y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol ar y mater hwn 

am y deuddeng mis diwethaf, ac amgaeir copïau o'm gohebiaeth er 

gwybodaeth i chi.   

 

5. Ysgrifennodd Llywydd y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol ataf yn gyntaf i ofyn am 

gyfraniad o £1,000,000 i'r prosiect ar 31 Ionawr 2018; ac o ran gwaith cynnal 

a chadw parhaus ar yr ADdG ar ôl 2023.  Nododd ei lythyr 'Mae'r Llyfrgell yn 

Tudalen y pecyn 22



2 
 

bwriadu talu'r costau hyn o'i hadnoddau ei hun ac nid yw'n rhagweld y bydd 

angen cyllid refeniw ychwanegol gan Lywodraeth Cymru'. 

 

6. Yn fy ateb ar 31 Ionawr, gofynnais am ddadansoddiad clir o'r costau refeniw 

parhaus sydd ynghlwm â'r Archif Darlledu, ac am eglurder ar yr effaith y 

byddai'r ymrwymiad hwn yn ei gael ar weithgareddau presennol y Llyfrgell.  

Codais fater cynnal a chadw archif BBC Cymru Wales a'r Canolfannau Clip 

arfaethedig yn benodol, gan mai'r rhain yw'r agweddau ar y prosiect sy'n 

gysylltiedig â mwyafrif y costau refeniw o 2024.  Mae’n bwysig deall bod archif 

BBC Cymru Wales eisoes wedi’i ddigido. Darperir mynediad cyhoeddus i’r 

archif trwy gyfrwng yr archif ddigidol, ac ni fydd unrhyw fynediad cyhoeddus i’r 

casgliad ffisegol. 

 

7. Dros 4 mis yn ddiweddarach, ar 5 Mehefin, nododd yr ymateb gan y Llywydd 

y byddai costau refeniw parhaus yr ADdG o 2024 oddeutu £450k y flwyddyn. 

 

8. Mae'r Llyfrgell eisoes yn rhagweld y bydd diffyg blynyddol o £986k yn 

bodoli erbyn hynny a byddai'r costau hyn yn ychwanegol at y swm 

hwnnw.  Nid ar chwarae bach y gellir ychwanegu baich ariannol arall, ac nid 

oedd yn glir bod cynllun yn cael ei ddatblygu i reoli costau ychwanegol yr 

Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol, na beth fyddai effaith integreiddio'r ADdG.   

 

9. Ar sail hynny, ymatebais ar 19 Gorffennaf gan wrthod cefnogi’r prosiect ar ei 

ffurf bresennol, a chan ofyn am adolygiad o'r cynnig prosiect i gynnwys delio 

â’r ystyriaethau ariannol, risg, cynaliadwyedd, a'r cynlluniau ar gyfer mynediad 

ac ymgysylltu. 

 

10. Cyfarfu fy swyddogion â'r BBC ym mis Medi, gan fynegi ein pryder nad oedd y 

BBC yn gwneud cyfraniad ariannol parhaus i'r prosiect pan fyddai cyllid 

Cronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri yn dod i ben. 

 

11. Yn dilyn gohebiaeth bellach dros yr haf, ysgrifennais at y Llywydd ar 20 

Tachwedd yn gwrthod rhoi cefnogaeth i'r ADdG oherwydd fy mhryder y gallai'r 

prosiect barhau i ychwanegu'n sylweddol at y risgiau o ran cynaliadwyedd y 

Tudalen y pecyn 23



3 
 

Llyfrgell Genedlaethol.  Ar 23 Tachwedd, penderfynodd Bwrdd 

Ymddiriedolwyr y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol i beidio â bwrw ymlaen a chyflwyno'r 

cais i Gronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri erbyn y dyddiad cau, sef 4 Rhagfyr. 

   

12. Dylid bod wedi rhoi mwy o bwyslais ar y cynllunio ariannol a'r cynllunio tymor 

hwy yn llawer cynharach yn y broses o ddatblygu’r prosiect, ond mae'r 

trafodaethau'n parhau rhwng y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol a phartneriaid y 

prosiect, ac mae Cronfa Dreftadaeth y Loteri wedi nodi y gall ganiatáu 

rhywfaint o amser ychwanegol i alluogi cyflwyno cais.   

 

13. Mae'r cynigion diweddaraf a gafwyd gan y Llyfrgell Genedlaethol yn nodi y 

gall gwtogi y costau refeniw ychwanegol o 2024-25 ymlaen i £256k y 

flwyddyn. Mae'r BBC bellach wedi cynnig swm o £20k y flwyddyn am gyfnod o 

dair blynedd o 2024, felly'r costau ychwanegol net yw £236k y flwyddyn. Mae'r 

Llyfrgell yn awr yn y broses o ystyried sut y gall leihau ei gwariant er mwyn 

ariannu'r costau ychwanegol hyn.  Fodd bynnag, nid oes ganddi gynlluniau 

eto sydd wedi'u datblygu'n ddigonol i nodi'r meysydd penodol.  Archwilir y 

rhain yn ystod 2019.  

 

14. Os bydd y Llyfrgell yn methu â chyflawni'r arbedion cost, byddai'n golygu 

efallai y bydd angen i'r Llyfrgell gysylltu â Llywodraeth Cymru i ariannu'r 

costau rhedeg o £236k, neu gyfran o’r costau, yn dibynnu ar faint o arbedion a 

gyflawnwyd.  Fel arall, gallai'r Llyfrgell leihau'r prosiect i lefel fach am gost 

amcangyfrifedig o £100k y flwyddyn.   

 

15. Mae'r gost o storio'r archif darlledu ffisegol (o ble y mae copïau digidol i 

ddarparu mynediad i’r archif wedi'u creu) yn cynrychioli £55k o'r gost.   Fel y 

nodir uchod, mae BBC Cymru wedi nodi y bydd yn cyfrannu £20k y flwyddyn 

tuag at gynnal a chadw'r archif am gyfnod o dair blynedd o 2024 ymlaen. 

 

16. Bydd y BBC hefyd yn darparu cyfraniad mewn da o £40k y flwyddyn dros yr 

un cyfnod i helpu gyda chlirio hawliau cyfranwyr, a fydd, rwy’n gobeithio, yn 

caniatáu i faint y cynnwys sydd ar gael ar-lein gynyddu'n raddol, gan adeiladu 

Tudalen y pecyn 24



4 
 

ar y 1000 o glipiau a fydd ar gael ar wefan y Llyfrgell yn ystod cyfnod y 

prosiect. 

 

17. Mae'r Llyfrgellydd Cenedlaethol wedi gofyn am gyfarfod â'm swyddogion ym 

mis Ionawr gan gynnwys y BBC, a hoffwn i drafodaethau pellach ddigwydd er 

mwyn edrych ar unrhyw gymorth ychwanegol y gallai BBC Cymru Wales ei 

ddarparu.  

 

18. Mae'r Llyfrgell Genedlaethol hefyd yn cynnal trafodaethau gyda phartneriaid y 

Canolfannau Clip ynghylch dyfodol y cyfleusterau hyn o 2024.  Mae Cronfa 

Dreftadaeth y Loteri wedi nodi y byddai'n fodlon i adolygiad gael ei gynnal, 

cyn i'r cyllid prosiect ddod i ben. Byddai'r adolygiad yn gwerthuso effaith ac 

effeithiolrwydd y Canolfannau Clip, yn seiliedig ar y profiad a enillwyd yn ystod 

y prosiect, ac yn llywio datblygiad model darparu mynediad  a threfniadau 

ariannu yn y dyfodol, os canfyddir bod y canolfannau wedi gweithredu’n 

llwyddiannus.   Mae partneriaid y Canolfannau Clip wedi nodi eu bod, mewn 

egwyddor, yn barod i ystyried trefniant cyllid partneriaeth gyda'r Llyfrgell 

Genedlaethol o 2024. 

 

19. Wrth i'r trafodaethau hyn fynd rhagddynt, rwyf wedi gofyn i'm swyddogion roi 

cyngor pellach i mi.  Byddaf yn cwrdd â'r Llywydd a'r Llyfrgellydd Cenedlaethol 

ym mis Chwefror pan fyddant yn cael cyfle i gyflwyno canlyniad y gwaith 

presennol o fynd i'r afael â chynaliadwyedd yr ADdG. 

Tudalen y pecyn 25



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 26

Eitem 3 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) iv o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



 

  1 

 

 

 

Introduction 
1. The Welsh NHS Confederation welcomes the opportunity to respond to the Culture, 

Welsh Language and Communications Committee inquiry into ‘Supporting and promoting 
the Welsh Language: The legislative, policy and wider context’.  
 

2. The Welsh NHS Confederation represents the seven Local Health Boards and three NHS 
Trusts in Wales. We support our members to improve health and wellbeing by working 
with them to deliver high standards of care for patients and best value for taxpayers’ 
money. We act as a driving force for positive change through strong representation and 
our policy, influencing and engagement work. 
 
 

Overview 
3. The delivery of bilingual NHS services is crucial to the provision of person-centred care. 

Delivering care and treatment in a patient’s preferred language allows NHS bodies to 
establish a closer relationship with patients, means that they are better positioned to 
place the needs of the patient at the heart of the treatment process, and allows the 
patient to engage more positively with their care by increasing their understanding of the 
treatment they receive. Health Boards and NHS Trusts have made significant progress in 
providing bilingual services in recent years and are committed to delivering a truly 
bilingual NHS for the people of Wales. 
 

4. Throughout Wales, the Welsh language is used across a range of communication 
platforms. Examples include face to face consultations and providing care across the 
whole system (acute, primary and community); online and social media platforms; and 
administrative support, including Executive Board papers and minutes. Our members are 
using the Welsh language in all parts of their respective organisations. The most recent 
draft of the Welsh Language Standards, which the Culture, Welsh Language and 
Communications Committee considered in March 2018 and the Welsh NHS Confederation 
responded to, will increase each organisations’ understanding of the patients who want 
Welsh language services, plan for services now and in future, and improve their capacity 
to provide services in Welsh. 

 

5. We welcome the progress that has been achieved over the past 18 months and the 
greater degree of clarity afforded by the Welsh Language Standards (No.7) Regulations 

 The Welsh NHS Confederation response to the Culture, Welsh Language and 
Communications Committee inquiry into ‘Supporting and promoting the the Welsh 
Language: The legislative, policy and wider context’. 

Contact: Callum Hughes, Policy and Research Officer, Welsh NHS Confederation. 

callum.hughes@welshconfed.org Tel:  02920 349850 

Date created: 20th September 2018 

Tudalen y pecyn 35

mailto:callum.hughes@welshconfed.org


 

  2 

2018 (the Standards), but significant challenges remain. The Standards, and the Welsh 
Language Measure, must be considered against the challenging backdrop that the NHS is 
working in, including rising demand, workforce recruitment challenges, finances and the 
fact that the NHS is a 24/7 service. Health Boards experience different challenges, and in 
more Welsh-speaking population areas it will be easier for those Health Boards to attract 
and train Welsh-speaking workers in lower banded posts than in areas where less people 
speak Welsh. This is true both in relation to attracting the workforce but also the need for 
Welsh speaking services in areas where the population of Welsh speakers is low. That said, 
recruitment problems and shortages are the same across all Health Boards when it comes 
to nurses and specialist areas. 

 
6. While there are some challenges, we must emphasise that not all challenges are relevant 

to all Health Boards and Trusts. Across Wales, due to local demographics, some Health 
Boards have already implemented schemes that address some of the issues that will face 
other Health Boards going forward. 

 
 
Achieving a bilingual healthcare system 
7. The Welsh NHS Confederation and our members recognise the importance of providing 

Welsh language services to patients. The Welsh NHS Confederation Policy Forum briefing, 
‘One Workforce: Ten actions to support the health and social care workforce in Wales’,i 
highlights the importance of investing in Welsh language provision across the health and 
social care workforce to ensure that patients and their families receive individual, person-
centred care in their chosen language.  
 

8. Under the arrangements set out in the NHS Wales Planning Framework and the NHS 
Finance (Wales) Act 2014, Health Boards and NHS Trusts are under a duty to prepare 
Integrated Medium-Term Plans (IMTPs). Within current IMTPs, the NHS is required to 
demonstrate “that services are planned and delivered in line with the strategic framework 
for health and social care in Wales ‘More than just Words…’ and the Welsh Government’s 
response to the Welsh Language Commissioner’s Primary Care Inquiry Report”. In 
addition, Health Boards and Trusts’ commitment to the Welsh language is further outlined 
by the responsibilities to the ‘More than just Words…’ framework and the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 

9. Our members welcome the growing recognition of the importance of meeting language 
needs and the impact this can have on the delivery of safe, high quality care and a positive 
patient experience. In particular, our members support the concept of the ‘active offer’ in 
relation to Welsh services and agree that the move from Welsh Language schemes to a 
workable set of Welsh Language Standards has the potential to bring about the positive 
change required. Moreover, our members believe that the introduction of the Welsh 
Language Standards should provide greater clarity for both organisations and members 
of the public on what provision they can expect to be provided in Welsh upon the 
Standards coming into force over time. 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 36



 

  3 

Terms of Reference 
a. Post legislative scrutiny of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 - to assess the 

perceived successes and limitations of the legislation, and the impact and effectiveness 
of Welsh Language Standards in improving and increasing access to Welsh language 
services; 

10. Our members fully support the aim of enhancing the use of the Welsh Language across 
the NHS and wider public sector. NHS Wales organisations are currently preparing their 
responses to the Welsh Language Commissioner’s consultation on the draft Welsh 
Language Standards Compliance Notice. This activity is helping to raise awareness of the 
new requirements that will apply to NHS Wales organisations and the new ways of 
working that the Standards will entail. 
 

11. The introduction of the Welsh Language schemes did not ensure the level of consistency 
between sectors or organisations that had originally been anticipated. Our members feel 
that new legislation that goes further than what was set out by the schemes under the 
Welsh Language Act 1993 has been required for some time. The Committee’s recent 
inquiry into the Welsh Language Standards (No. 7) Regulations therefore has been 
welcomed. This is especially true following the Welsh Government’s Cymraeg 2050 
Strategy, which aims to achieve one million Welsh speakers by the year 2050. 
 

12. The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 has provided a stronger base for 
organisations to build on, something that may have been lacking in the 1993 legislation. 
The Standards have also raised greater awareness of the need to provide services in a 
patient’s preferred language and emphasised the significance of designing and delivering 
services around the patient. Also, the Standards have provided service users with an 
opportunity to ensure that health services have a greater understanding of their language 
needs. 
 

13. Moreover, the ‘More than Just Words…’ strategy and its structure (i.e. the More than Just 
Words awards) has been an effective means of raising the profile of the Welsh language. 
In particular, it has supported organisations to gather, highlight and share good practice 
across Wales and has encouraged organisations to work collaboratively on specific areas, 
particularly building links and partnerships between health and social care which is key 
following the Social Services and Well-being Act 2014 and the recently published Welsh 
Government long-term plan for health and social care ‘A Healthier Wales’.ii Our members 
feel that this has been made possible thanks to the fact that the strategy was tailored 
specifically for health and social care organisations and considered the related challenges 
and opportunities. 
 

14. However, one of the key aims of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 was that it 
would provide greater clarity and assurance to members of the public in terms of what 
their rights would be around language choice across the public sector. However, owing to 
the fact that what may be required from one body in one part of Wales may be different 
to what is required from another body in another part of Wales, the 2011 Measure has 
fallen short of achieving the level of consistency that had been anticipated across all 
organisations. In other words, our members do not feel that the Measure has clarified this 
issue. Legislation should ensure that an individual is able to receive the same level and 

Tudalen y pecyn 37



 

  4 

quality of service regardless of whereabouts in Wales they live, especially due to the cross 
boundary nature of healthcare services with a number of patients receiving care from 
more than one Health Board or Trust (for example a person diagnosed with cancer in 
Hywel Dda University Health Board may receive treatment from the Health Board they 
are living in as well as Abertawe Bro Morgannwg UHB and Velindre University NHS Trust). 
 

15. There is also a concern that the necessary restructuring of existing systems could lead to 
major changes in the ways that Health Boards and Trusts engage with their service users. 
It is felt that many of the objectives of new policy frameworks could be achieved 
organically in conjunction with supportive staff through improvements in framework and 
culture. This would lead to greater integration and mainstreaming of the Welsh language 
across the system rather than having inconsistent/patchy engagement. 
 

16. A framework is also required to ensure plans and procedures are put in place to allow for 
robust governance and accountability which should, in turn, provide assurance to NHS 
organisations and enable them to achieve the wider Welsh language goals within Cymraeg 
2050.  
 

17. Our members do acknowledge however that such a level of investment would be difficult 
against an increasingly challenging financial backdrop. As highlighted in our response to 
the Committee’s inquiry into the Welsh Language Standards (No. 7) Regulations, our 
members are concerned that the time given to comply with each Standard may be 
unachievable and impractical given the complex nature of services and the number of 
Welsh speakers or learners able to provide that service. The Welsh language capabilities 
of frontline staff currently employed by NHS Wales would need focused and continuous 
investment over a number of years – that is to say, a ‘one-off’ period of training and 
investment would not be sufficient to achieve full compliance across NHS organisations. 

 

 

b. To assess whether the legislative framework supports or limits Welsh language 
promotion and its use; 

12. NHS organisations have been implementing a Welsh Language Scheme since 2010, and 
the Welsh Government’s Strategic Framework for Welsh Language Services in Health, 
Social Services and Social Care since 2012. Our members do not consider these 
frameworks to be a limit on the use or the promotion of the Welsh language. Evidence 
from our members indicates that access to Welsh language services has improved over 
the past eight years as a direct result of the legislative and policy requirements. 
 

13. However, while promotion of the Welsh Language is crucial, there needs to be a 
reasonable level of enforcement to fully integrate services and achieve a stronger focus 
for this agenda. A reasonable level of enforcement gives the Welsh language a platform 
for discussion that is stronger than had previously been the case under the 1993 Act. It 
opens up discussions that would not necessarily take place should there not be a legal 
framework in place to support it. A reasonable level of enforcement, therefore, supports 
the use and promotion of the language and does not limit its use. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 38



 

  5 

14. Our members recognise that more work needs to be done to provide improved access to 
Welsh language services. The existing Welsh language frameworks and enforcement 
measures have expanded organically in recent years, and it is felt that the existing 
frameworks are providing NHS organisations with the impetus to improve services 
further. 
 

15. As we pointed out in our response to the Committee’s inquiry in March 2018, our 
members are broadly supportive of the introduction of the Standards as they mean that 
Health Boards and Trusts will be required to take a more proactive and strategic approach 
to mainstreaming the Welsh language and promoting the active offer. The Standards will 
also ensure a patient’s language choice is made clear to staff, thus increasing 
opportunities between patients and (Welsh-speaking) staff to interact in Welsh and for 
the active offer to be realised in practice. However, it must be borne in mind that not all 
patient administration systems within and across the NHS currently have the required 
facilities to record language choice and issues around engagement, cultural acceptance 
and limited resources will continue to be key challenges. 
 

16. Similarly, while our members support the general principle that telephone conversations 
and correspondence be bilingual across NHS Wales, it would be difficult to implement 
and enforce such a policy adequately because some data systems within Health Boards 
and Trusts are not compatible with each other. Some departments/clinics also record 
their data exclusively via paper systems, which would make language choice difficult to 
transfer with the current systems. 
 

17. In addition, the Data Protection Act 1998, and the new GDPR provisions, prohibits some 
individuals accessing some systems. This could be problematic for issues like complaints, 
which are recorded on a Datix system, because not all NHS Wales staff have access to this 
system. Despite the fact that a patient’s preferred language can be recorded on Datix it 
is unlikely that this choice will be communicated quickly within and across organisations 
without sufficient restructuring of existing systems. 
 
 

c. An international perspective - gathering evidence on legislation to protect and promote 
minority language planning in other countries; 

15. As part of the first ‘More Than Just Words…’ framework, the Welsh Government 
conducted an in-depth analysis of language planning and legislative support for language 
development within the context of health and social service provision. 
 

16. This analysis was based on data and research conducted in French-speaking parts of 
Canada, where some communities were campaigning for services to be provided in 
French. It played an active role in providing information for the European Charter for 
Regional and Minority Languages (ECRML) - the origin of the ‘active offer’ concept - which 
is now embedded in the Welsh Language Standards. 
 

17. Strategies were introduced in these parts of Canada, but key challenges around access 
were persistent due to a lack of effective enforcement measuresiii. Some of the 
comments received by French-speaking patients across the region included “We know 

Tudalen y pecyn 39



 

  6 

there is a law, but we don’t take it seriously because all francophones speak English” and 
“Too often, we are not given choice. Service is provided spontaneously in English”. It is 
encouraging that the Welsh Government, by noting this case study, has recognised the 
importance of effective enforcement measures to support the use and promotion of the 
language. 
 

18. Public Health Wales NHS Trust (PHW) has an International Health Division within its 
Policy, Research and International Development directorate. It focuses on maximising 
applied learning from international policy, practice and research to support public health 
innovation in Wales. PHW work closely with key international partners, developing 
synergies and promoting opportunities. The value and influence of international data and 
research informing language planning legislation, policy and practice in Wales is 
therefore well-recognised. The promotion and subsequent support for minority language 
provision can only be strengthened by ensuring it sits within legislation as this gives it the 
strength and platform it requires to grow. 

 
 
Other comments 
20 Our members have highlighted the willingness and ability of the existing workforce and 

labour market to provide Welsh language services at the levels envisaged in the future. 
However, the NHS in Wales faces many recruitment and retention challenges, including 
the recruitment and retention of Welsh language professionals, clinicians and 
administrative staff (e.g. receptionists, HR, communication professionals such as media 
and digital etc). The solutions to these challenges often go beyond the remit of Health 
Boards and Trusts, with the importance of having a truly bilingual education system at the 
core of the issue.  
 

19. Our members also point out that increasing the number of Welsh-speaking staff within 
their specific Health Board or Trust is not solely an organisational or recruitment challenge 
– making the ability to correspond in Welsh an essential job requirement, for example, 
will have little or no effect if there is not a sufficiently sizeable Welsh-speaking population 
within the relevant geographical area in the first place. Achieving this involves sustained, 
targeted and multi-disciplinary Welsh Government approaches that extend far beyond 
the remit of Health Boards and Trusts and have at their core a truly bilingual education 
system in Wales. This in itself represents an altogether new policy debate beyond the 
mandate of our members. 

 
 
Conclusion 
21 On behalf of our members, the Welsh NHS Confederation welcomes the growing 

recognition of the importance of meeting language need in the Welsh NHS and the 
impact this can have on the provision of services and patient experience. We support the 
importance of meeting language need and the ‘active offer’. We also agree that it is 
appropriate and timely to move away from the existing Welsh Language schemes and 
look to further promote the Welsh language through other policy initiatives. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 40



 

  7 

22 Finally, we would encourage the Culture, Welsh Language and Communications 
Committee to note the significant progress that has been made in recent years by our 
members towards providing services in a patient’s chosen language. In terms of access 
and the delivery of services, the picture is one of sustained, albeit steady, improvement 
across Wales. We will continue to work closely with our members to support these 
positive developments in the future. 

i Welsh NHS Confederation Policy Forum, September 2016. ‘One workforce: Ten actions to support the health 
and social care workforce in Wales’. 
ii Welsh Government, July 2018. ‘A Healthier Wales: Our Plan for Health and Social Care’. 
iii Health Canada and the Public Health Agency of Canada, March 2017. ‘Evaluation of the Official Languages 
Health Contribution Program 2012-2103 to 2014-2015’. 

                                                           

Tudalen y pecyn 41



 

 

 
Ymateb Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Betsi Cadwaladr i 

Ymchwiliad y Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu i Gefnogi a 
Hybu’r Gymraeg: Y cyd-destun deddfwriaethol a pholisi ac yn ehangach 

 

Mae Bwrdd Iechyd Prifysgol Betsi Cadwaladr (y Bwrdd Iechyd) yn croesawu’r cyfle i 
gynnig sylwadau mewn perthynas ag ymchwiliad y Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a 
Chyfathrebu i Gefnogi a Hybu’r Gymraeg: Y cyd-destun deddfwriaethol a pholisi ac 
yn ehangach. 
  
Mae Byrddau Iechyd yng Nghymru ar hyn o bryd yng nghanol y broses ymgynghori ar 
rybudd cydymffurfio drafft Safonau’r Gymraeg a osodir arnynt gan Gomisiynydd y 
Gymraeg. O’r herwydd, mae sefydliadau eraill sydd eisoes wedi mynd drwy’r broses 
o dderbyn o osod Safonau efallai mewn gwell sefyllfa i fynd i’r afael â holl elfennau 
cylch gorchwyl yr ymchwiliad hwn. Fodd bynnag, rydym yn barod i gynnig sylwadau 
yn deillio o’n profiad ein hunain a’n sefyllfa o ran y ddeddfwriaeth bresennol yn 
ymwneud ‘â’r Gymraeg. 
 
Mae’r Bwrdd Iechyd wedi croesawu'r fframwaith deddfwriaethol newydd, Mesur y 
Gymraeg (Cymru) 2011 ac wedi bod yn gweithio tuag at gydymffurfiaeth gyda’r 
Safonau arfaethedig. Mae’r fframwaith deddfwriaethol wedi gosod y sylfaen ar gyfer 
proses o gynllunio a pharatoi cadarn i ddiwallu gofynion cydymffurfiaeth newydd. 
 
Fel rhan o’i ymrwymiad i ddarparu’r gofal gorau posibl â’r claf yn ganolog, mae’r Bwrdd 
Iechyd wedi buddsoddi'n sylweddol mewn gwasanaethau Cymraeg i fynd i'r afael â'r 
galw cynyddol ar y tîm yng ngoleuni'r Safonau sydd i ddod. Mae Swyddog 
Cydymffurfio â Safonau'r Gymraeg wedi'i phenodi i ganolbwyntio'n benodol ar 
weithredu a hwyluso Safonau'r Gymraeg dan Fesur y Gymraeg (Cymru) 2011. Cafodd 
Tiwtor y Gymraeg ei phenodi hefyd i fynd i'r afael â'r galw am hyfforddiant i gynyddu 
gallu'r Bwrdd Iechyd i ddarparu gwasanaethau dwyieithog drwy ganolbwyntio ar 
gynllunio'r gweithlu a datblygu staff. Oherwydd cynnydd sylweddol yn y galw am y 
gwasanaeth cyfieithu, gwelwyd buddsoddiad ar ffurf Uwch Gyfieithydd a Chyfieithydd 
ychwanegol. 
 
Mae'r Bwrdd Iechyd wedi datblygu Cynllun Strategol y Gymraeg sy'n gosod ei nodau 
ac amcanion hir dymor ar gyfer 2016-2019. Mae'r cynllun strategol hwn yn rhoi 
gweledigaeth ar gyfer hyrwyddo a gwella darpariaeth Gymraeg ac yn amlinellu 
canolbwynt allweddol ar ddarparu agwedd "Cynnig Rhagweithiol" at gynllunio a 
darparu gwasanaethau.  
 
Er mwyn cynorthwyo â chynllunio, ystyriwyd gofynion yn unol â thri dimensiwn fydd yn 
ffurfio sail i adeiladu arno. 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 
Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee 
Cefnogi a hybu’r Gymraeg  / Supporting and Promoting the Welsh Language 
CWLC(5) SWL46 
Ymateb gan Betsi Cadwaladr Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol / Evidence from Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 

Tudalen y pecyn 42



2 
 

 Mae Ymyriad Strategol yn nodi'r weledigaeth i'r Bwrdd Iechyd wrth symud 
ymlaen, gan sicrhau ein bod yn gweithio tuag at yr un nod. Mae’r Bwrdd Iechyd yn 
sicrhau eglurder o ran yr ymrwymiad a'r ymgysylltu angenrheidiol ar lefel uwch 
arweinyddion gan sicrhau bod y Gymraeg yn rhan annatod o gynllunio gweithredol 
a darpariaeth gwasanaeth.  

 Mae Newid Ymddygiad yn sicrhau bod y Bwrdd Iechyd yn creu cyd-destun sy'n 
annog staff i ddefnyddio eu sgiliau iaith. Mae’n sicrhau newid diwylliannol ar bob 
lefel yn y sefydliad gan greu amgylchedd ble mae ymwybyddiaeth o'r Gymraeg yn 
hollbwysig. 

 Mae Perfformiad a Monitro yn sicrhau bod y Cynllun Strategol yn parhau yn 
waith ar y gweill drwy gylch parhaus o fonitro.  

 
Yn seiliedig ar y Cynllun Strategol, mae Rhaglen Waith Safonau'r Gymraeg wedi'i 
datblygu yn seiliedig ar Safonau'r Gymraeg ac yn cynnwys amcanion o 'Mwy na 
Geiriau', Fframwaith Strategol Llywodraeth Cymru sy'n cynnwys camau penodol ar 
gyfer meysydd gwasanaeth.    
 
Er mwyn sicrhau ei fod yn cael ei roi ar waith, sefydlwyd Grŵp Rheoli Prosiect i 
gefnogi'r Bwrdd i ddarparu ei gyfrifoldebau yn unol â Safonau'r Gymraeg i wella profiad 
defnyddwyr y gwasanaeth drwy ddarparu gofal dwyieithog. Bydd cyfrifoldebau'r Grŵp 
yn cynnwys cymryd perchnogaeth o ddarparu'r Safonau'n llwyddiannus ledled y Bwrdd 
Iechyd yn ogystal â gweithredu fel arweinwyr strategol a phwyntiau cyswllt yn y 
meysydd gwasanaeth.  
 
Wrth baratoi ar gyfer Safonau'r Gymraeg, mae'r Bwrdd Iechyd wedi bod yn cysylltu ac 
yn gweithio â chyrff eraill o'r sector cyhoeddus sydd wedi bod yn gweithredu Safonau'r 
Gymraeg dros y flwyddyn ddiwethaf. Yn benodol, mae'r Bwrdd Iechyd wedi cymryd 
diddordeb brwd yn y gweithgarwch yn ei Awdurdodau Lleol cyfagos ac wedi cymryd 
rhan mewn nifer o gyfarfodydd, cynadleddau a gweithdai a drefnwyd gan Lywodraeth 
Cymru a Chomisiynydd y Gymraeg. 
 
Roedd gofyn am ddeddfwriaeth newydd a fyddai’n ateb y diben i ymestyn a chryfhau’r 
goblygiadau o fewn Cynlluniau Iaith Gymraeg o dan Deddf yr Iaith Gymraeg 1993. Nid 
oedd Cynlluniau Iaith Gymraeg yn sicrhau cysondeb rhwng sectorau, nac ychwaith 
rhwng sefydliadau o fewn yr un sector a oedd yn ddiffyg sylfaenol ac yn rhywbeth a 
fuasai rhywun wedi ei obeithio a fyddai’n cael ei ddatrys o dan y gyfundrefn newydd. 
 
Mae Mesur y Gymraeg (Cymru) 2011 wedi gosod seilwaith cadarnach a oedd ei angen 
ar sefydliadau i adeiladu arnynt gan fod hyn yn ddiffygiol o dan ofynion blaenorol Deddf 
yr Iaith Gymraeg 1993. 
 
Mae hyn yn bwysicach fyth yn dilyn gweledigaeth Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer miliwn 
o siaradwyr Cymraeg fel rhan o’r Strategaeth Cymraeg 2050. 
 
O ddwyn i ystyriaeth Strategaeth Cymraeg 2050, mae’r Bwrdd Iechyd yn cytuno â 
rhagair y Gweinidog sy'n amlinellu gweledigaeth am "wlad lle mae'r Gymraeg yn 
gadarn ac yn gynaliadwy.....gyda dwyieithrwydd wedi ymblethu’n ddi-dor drwy 
gymuned a gwaith ym mhob cwr o’r wlad." Mae angen agwedd cenedlaethau a gwlad 
gyfan i gyflawni gweledigaeth a nodau’r Strategaeth. 

Tudalen y pecyn 43



3 
 

Ymddengys nad oedd Cynlluniau Iaith Gymraeg yn bodloni amcanion polisi. Mae’n 
angen ystyried y rheswm dros hyn o fewn rhai sefydliadau, ac i sicrhau nad yw’r un 
camgymeriadau yn digwydd eto. 
 
Un o brif amcanion Mesur y Gymraeg (Cymru) 2011 oedd darparu gwell eglurder a 
sicrwydd i aelodau o’r cyhoedd o’u hawliau o gwmpas dewis iaith ar draws y sector 
cyhoeddus.  Fodd bynnag, oherwydd bod yr hyn sy’n ofynnol gan un corff mewn un 
rhan o Gymru yn gallu bod yn wahanol i’r hyn sy’n ofynnol gan gorff arall mewn rhan 
arall o Gymru, nid yw Mesur 2011 wedi cyflawni’r lefel o gysondeb a ddisgwyliwyd ar 
draws bob sefydliad.  Mewn geiriau eraill, nid yw ein haelodau yn teimlo bod y Mesur 
wedi goleuo'r mater.  Dylai deddfwriaeth sicrhau bod unigolyn yn gallu derbyn 
gwasanaeth o’r un lefel a’r un ansawdd lle bynnag maen nhw’n byw yng Nghymru. 
 
Mae gweithrediad y ddeddfwriaeth angen mynd cam ymhellach i sicrhau eglurder ac 
agwedd gyson – dylai unigolyn allu derbyn gwasanaeth o’r un lefel ac o’r un ansawdd 
yng Ngogledd ac yn Ne Cymru.  Mae angen fframwaith i scirhau bod cynlluniau a 
gweithdrefnau yn cael eu rhoi mewn lle i ganiatau llywodraethu ac atebolrwydd cadarn 
a ddylai, yn ei dro, roi sicrwydd i’r holl sefydliadau sy’n gweithio ar y cyd i gyflawni’r 
amcanion ehangach o fewn Cymraeg 2050.  
 
Ers diddymu Bwrdd yr Iaith, mae wedi dod yn amlwg bod bwlch yn nhermau 
hyrwyddo'r Gymraeg.  Mae angen cydbwysedd rhwng cefnogaeth a gorfodaeth.  Wrth 
gydnabod bod rheoleiddio yn allweddol i ddarpariaeth lwyddiannus y Safonau, mae 
angen ffocws ar gefnogi sefydliadau a hyrwyddo’r iaith.  Dylai’r ddau gael eu cadw ar 
wahân, ond yr un mor gadarn.   
 
Dylai bod mwy o ffocws ar weithgaredd hyrwyddo, gan fod sefydliadau sy’n brofiadol 
o ran gweithredu deddfwriaeth y Gymraeg, ac sydd yn y gorffennol wedi cofleidio’r 
cysyniad o hyrwyddo’r Gymraeg, wedi gweld bwlch yn y maes hwn.  Mae ymgymryd 
â gweithgareddau hyrwyddol, perthnasol yn ddiffygiol yn y system gyfredol ac mae 
sefydliadau a’r cyhoedd angen cefnogaeth a chyfarwyddyd. 

 
Elfen greiddiol arall sydd yn brin yn y system bresennol yw cydweithio gyda chyrff i’w 
cynorthwyo i gydymffurfio â Safonau, er enghraifft drwy ddarparu hyfforddiant neu 
gynnal gweithdai. Mae angen dull gofalus ac amlinelliad clir o’r hyn sydd yn 
ddisgwyliedig o bob gwasanaeth. Byddai’r Bwrdd iechyd yn croesawu hyn gan fod yna 
ddiffyg presennol hyd yn oed o fewn sectorau.  
 
O edrych ar ddatblygiadau posibl ar gyfer y dyfodol wrth weithredu deddfwriaeth 
ynglŷn â’r iaith Gymraeg, mae angen cydbwysedd er mwyn sicrhau bod yna 
fframweithiau llywodraethu a chefnogi addas ar waith os ydym am symud ymlaen 
ymhellach. Mae gofyn am: 
 

 hybu’r iaith; 

 cyngor ar gyfer sefydliadau sydd yn wynebu heriau; 

 camau gorfodi i sicrhau bod sefydliadau yn gweithredu’r Safonau; 

 rheoleiddio’r broses o fonitro cydymffurfiaeth;  

 cefnogaeth i sefydliadau 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 44



4 
 

Mater ar wahân sydd hefyd angen tynnu sylw ato yw’r heriau sylweddol sydd yn bodoli 
o fewn y broses ymchwiliadau sydd yn gallu bod yn rhwystr i ddatrysiadau rhesymol 
ar y cyd. Mae’r system bresennol yn broses hir a maith. Mae gan y Bwrdd Iechyd 
brofiad o’r dull presennol o ddelio â chwynion honedig, a welwyd cwyn yn cael ei 
uwchraddio i ymchwiliad pryder ehangach a allai fod wedi cael ei ddatrys yn lleol mewn 
dull rhesymegol. Gresyn fod y dull hwn yn cyfyngu ar allu sefydliadau i ddatrys 
problemau’n lleol, ac yn rhwystr i ganolbwyntio ar flaenoriaethau cyffelyb. 
 
Fel yr amlinellir yn yr ymateb hwn, mae’r Bwrdd Iechyd yn croesawu’r ffyniant yn y 
gydnabyddiaeth a roddir i angen iaith o fewn y GIG yng Nghymru a’r effaith y mae hyn 
yn ei gael ar ddarpariaeth gwasanaethau a phrofiad y claf ar lawr gwald. Pwysleisir 
hefyd y pwysigrwydd o symud y waelodlin gadarnhaol a sefydliad gan ‘Mwy na geiriau’ 
gan annog cynllunio ymlaen drwy osod amcanion hirdymor fel rhan o Fframwaith 
Strategol diwygiedig yn canolbwyntio ar symud egwyddor y “Cynnig Rhagweithiol” yn 
ei flaen fwyfwy. 
 
Diolch am y cyfle i ymateb i’r ymchwiliad hwn. Mae croeso i chi gysylltu os angen 
arnoch ragor o wybodaeth neu eglurhad.  
 
Hyderwn y bydd y sylwadau o fudd i chi.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 45



Supporting and Promoting the Welsh Language – An inquiry into the 
legislative, policy and wider context. 

An International Perspective – legislation in Ireland to protect and promote the Irish 
language (submission by the Office of the Language Commissioner, Ireland) 

I welcome the invitation from the Committee to make a submission in respect of the inquiry 
into the legislative, policy and wider context aspects of supporting and promoting the Welsh 
Language. Ireland and Wales share many of the same experiences as to the status and use 
of our national languages.  In both our jurisdictions our national languages are now lesser 
used languages but yet form an important part of our sense of identity in an ever more 
globalised world.   

In my submission to the Committee I intend to concentrate primarily on my own sphere of 
responsibility; the implementation of the Official Languages Act. I appreciate that this must 
be contextualised by a fuller understanding of the language environment that we currently 
operate in and the measures in place to support the everyday use of the Irish language.  My 
submission will therefore deal with the following areas: 

− Government policy measures to support the language
− Language legislation and the role of my Office
− Our experience to date
− Conclusions

Article 8 of Bunreacht na hÉireann (The Irish Constitution) recognises the Irish language as 
our national language and our first official language.  English is recognised as a second 
official language.  Over the years precedents have been set by constitutional cases taken by 
citizens wishing to exercise their rights to the provision of a greater degree of public services 
in the Irish language.        

The official status of the language is at variance with its level of usage by the general 
population and the dominant position of the English language in society as a whole.  Irish 
remains a language of tuition at both the primary and the secondary levels of the education 
system, one of the more obvious official supports provided by the State.  There are seven 
geographical areas in the country recognised as Gaeltacht districts where Irish was or is the 
predominant spoken language.  The largest Gaeltacht regions are situated along the 
western seaboard.   

The use of the Irish language both outside and within the Gaeltacht is best illustrated by the 
census data as outlined below: 

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru / National Assembly for Wales 
Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee 
Cefnogi a hybu’r Gymraeg  / Supporting and Promoting the Welsh Language 
CWLC(5) SWL10 
Ymateb gan Comisiynydd y Wyddeleg / Evidence from Irish Language Commissioner 

Tudalen y pecyn 46

Eitem 4



2 
 

 
Census Statistics 2016 2011 % Change 
Total Population 4,761,865 4,588,252 3.8% 
Ability to speak Irish 1,761,420 1,774,737 -0.8% 
Never speak Irish 418,420 438,782 -4.6% 
Speak Irish within the education 
system only 

558,608 519,181 7.6% 

Speak Irish weekly outside the 
education system 

111,473 110,642 0.8% 

Speak Irish daily outside the 
education system 

73,803 77,185 -4.4% 

Gaeltacht areas: Speak Irish daily 
outside the education system 

20,586 23,175 -11.2% 

 
The census results clearly demonstrates a disconnect between people’s ability to speak the 
Irish language and the frequency of usage.  A more worrying trend between 2011 and 2016 
is the falloff in the numbers that speak Irish on a daily basis outside the education system.  
This statistic is widely regarded as the best indicator of the number of active speakers and 
has shown an overall decrease of 3,382. Of greater significance is the 11% decrease in the 
number of active speakers located in Gaeltacht areas.  In those five years the overall 
number of people with the ability to speak Irish has remained relatively static.  This 
highlights the need to increase the opportunities available to people to speak the language 
including opportunities in accessing public services. 
 
1. Government policy measures to support the language 
Since the foundation of the State various policy initiatives, legislation and other supports 
have been provided to cater for the provision of services in the Irish language and to 
stimulate its use.  Outlined below is a summary of some of the key services and supports 
that are currently provided by the State.  
 
      MEDIA  EDUCATION    PUBLIC  COMMUNITY 
       SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Irish Language 
Television Service - 

TG4 
 

Support of Irish 
Medium Language 

Education 
 

Irish a compulsory 
subject at primary 
& secondary level 

 

Official Languages 
Act 

 

Irish Language 
Radio Service – 

Raidió na 
Gaeltachta 

 

Language Provisions 
in the Education Act 

1998 
 

Irish Language 
Online Newspaper – 

Tuairisc.ie 
 

Provisions in other 
legislation to do 

with status and use 
of Irish language 

 

Údarás na Gaeltachta 
– Authority for 

Gaeltacht 
Development 

 

Foras na Gaeilge – 
North/South body 

charged with 
language promotion 

 

Language Planning 
Process and schemes 

to promote use of 
language 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 47



3 
 

The Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht has overall responsibility for the 
promotion of the Irish language and the primary policy framework for the promotion and 
support of the language are stated below. 
 

i. Statement on the Irish Language 
The Government has introduced a number of measures in the last few years in relation to 
the language. One example is the Statement on the Irish Language, issued in 2006. This is a 
statement of policy affirming the Government’s support for the development and 
preservation of the Irish Language and the Gaeltacht. It was to form a basis on which a 
series of actions to benefit the Irish Language and the Gaeltacht would be developed. The 
Statement contained 13 policy objectives:  

1. To uphold the constitutional position of the language and it’s special status in 
legislation such as the Official Languages Act 2003, the Education Act 1998 and the 
Planning and Development Act 2000. 

2. To fully implement the Official Languages Act. 
3. To give encouragement to the Irish language community inside and outside the 

Gaeltacht to transmit the language to the next generation. 
4. To support the Gaeltacht as an Irish Speaking area. 
5. To teach Irish as an obligatory subject from Primary to Leaving Certificate level 
6. To provide a high standard of all-Irish education to school students whose parents so 

wish. 
7. To continue to support pre-school education through Irish and to further develop 

third-level education through Irish. 
8. To continue to support Foras na Gaeilge in the context of the British-Irish Agreement 

1999. 
9. To ensure high quality broadcast services through the medium of Irish, especially 

through the continuous development of RTÉ, Raidió na Gaeltachta and TG4. 
10. To provide every assistance and support to the EU in implementing the decision to 

make Irish a working and official language in the EU from 2007. 
11. To reinforce the work being done by the Department of Community, Equality and 

Gaeltacht Affairs and by agencies and bodies under its aegis. 
12. To continue and develop the use of Irish in An Garda Síochána and the Defence 

Forces. 
13. To continue to support the vital role of the Irish language voluntary sector.  

 
ii. 20 Year Strategy for the Irish Language 

A twenty year strategy was developed based on the objectives set out in the Statement, and 
was published in 2008. The strategy set out the aims of Government policy in respect of the 
Irish language, mainly to increase on an incremental basis the use and knowledge of Irish as 
a community language, and specifically to ensure that as many citizens as possible are 
bilingual in Irish and English. The Strategy sets out 9 areas for action, including Education; 
The Gaeltacht; Family Transmission; Administration, Services and Community; Media and 
Technology; Dictionaries; Legislation and Status; Economic Life and Cross Cutting Initiatives. 

Tudalen y pecyn 48



4 
 

The headline goals of the Strategy are to increase over 20 years (1) the number of people 
with a knowledge of Irish from 1.66m to 2m and (2) the current number of daily speakers 
from approximately 83,000 to 250,000. It also aims to increase the number of speakers who 
speak Irish on a daily basis in the Gaeltacht by 25% in overall terms and to increase the 
number of people that use State services through the Irish language and can access 
television, radio and print media through the language. 
 

iii. 5 Year Action Plan 
The Government published a 5 year Action Plan 2018-2022 earlier this year detailing the 
main priorities towards delivering on the objectives of the 20 Year Strategy. The main 
objectives of this plan are: 

(1) To provide a more cohesive and coherent framework in support of the Strategy’s 
implementation which focuses on specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and 
time-specific actions; 

(2) To ensure more efficient and effective engagement at Departmental, NGO and 
community level; 

(3) To further develop co-ownership, co-responsibility and accountability across 
Government and at agency and NGO level; 
 

The plan sets out a suite of agreed actions to be implemented over the period 2018-2022 
and also outlines a revised approach in monitoring progress in order to provide for greater 
accountability. 
 

iv. Language Planning 
The Gaeltacht Act 2012 made provision for language planning in both Gaeltacht and non-
Gaeltacht areas. This process requires communities to prepare language plans for their local 
areas to be implemented over a seven year period.  Although not without merit this 
approach has received some criticism for placing an inordinate language planning burden on 
local communities without sufficient State supports.  It should be recognised that the 
process is in its infancy and it remains to be seen how effective it will be. 
 
 
2. Language legislation and the role of my Office 

 
i. The Official Languages Act 2003 

Irish language protection/promotion measures have been included in a number of pieces of 
legislation over the years. Over one hundred Acts of the Oireachtas include some specific 
provisions in respect of the status or use of the language, not least of which are the 
Education Act 1998 and the Planning and Development Act 2000 mentioned above, the 
Transport Act 1950 and the Garda Síochána Act 2005.  
The enactment of the Official Languages Act 2003 marked an important legislative milestone 
towards the provision of public services in both official languages.  It also established an 
independent statutory body charged with monitoring the implementation of the Act and 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



5 
 

provided a mechanism that provided citizens with an opportunity to make complaints when 
those services fell short of what was required. The Commissioner has the power to 
investigate possible breaches of the provisions of the Official Languages Act and any other 
enactments that contain provisions to do with the use or status of an official language. 
 
The purpose of the Act is to promote the use of the Irish language for official purposes in 
the State and to provide for the use of both official languages of the State in Parliamentary 
proceedings, in Acts of the Oireachtas, in the administration of Justice, in communicating 
with or providing services to the public and in carrying out the work of public bodies. It is 
divided into two main parts – direct provisions and language schemes. 
 

(1) Direct provisions. 
The direct provisions of the Act encompass the use of the Irish language in the 
Houses of the Oireachtas, in Acts of the Oireachtas and in the courts (sections 6-
8). They also cover the use of the Irish language in communications with the 
public – in stationery, signage and recorded oral announcements (for which 
regulations have been made under Section 9 of the Act), in responses to written 
communications from the public and in providing information to the public in 
general and certain official publications - annual reports, audited accounts and 
public policy proposals (sections 9 &10). 
 

(2) Schemes. 
The second element of the Act provides for the drawing up of language schemes 
or plans by public bodies, and their confirmation by the Minister (sections 11-18). 
The schemes would encompass matters such as forms and leaflets, telephone 
services, counter services, websites and publications other than those under 
section 10 of the Act. 

 
 

ii. Importance of Independence of Language Commissioner Role  
The role of Language Commissioner in Ireland is that of an independent ombudsman, and 
the Office has been very mindful of that independence since its foundation. 
 
The importance of this independent stance was highlighted in the submission made by the 
International Association of Language Commissioners, of which the Office is a member and 
current chair, to the Welsh Government last year, in response to the request for 
submissions in respect of the proposals for a Welsh Language Bill. In short, the IALC felt that 
the removal of a Commissioner could only be viewed as a retrograde step, as the promotion 
of a minority language and protection of the rights of its speakers is not always politically 
expedient from the perspective of whoever the government of the day may be. The 
appointment of an independent champion of the language is required in order to ensure the 
ongoing day-to-day protection of those rights, regardless of the government of the day. As 

Tudalen y pecyn 50



6 
 

was pointed out by the IALC in its submission, it may be necessary to comment adversely at 
times on the action (or inaction) of government. The credibility of the linguistic regime in 
the eyes of stakeholders, parliamentarians, language rights advocates, scholars, the media 
and the general public lies in the knowledge that there is an independent office holder with 
the freedom to hold government to account. 
 
 
3. Our experience to date 
As I mentioned above, the Office was founded in February 2004, and we now, therefore, 
have over 14 years’ experience in monitoring the implementation of the Act and dealing 
with complaints from the public with regard to perceived failures of public bodies to comply 
with its provisions. The organisation is small, with a total of 8 staff supporting An Coimisinéir 
Teanga. It is essentially divided into 3 main section – Complaints and Investigations, the 
section that deals with complaints from the public in respect of alleged breaches, and also 
provides advice on language rights to members of the public;  Compliance Section, which 
monitors the implementation of the Act and of language schemes by public bodies; and 
Communications Section, which provides advice to public bodies, promotes the work of the 
Office and provides seminars for networks of officers from public bodies or local language 
planning groups/ community organisations. 
 
The Office has found that in general, services provided in the Irish language have increased 
and improved especially those governed by the direct provisions of the Official Languages 
Act.  Although a constitutional obligation existed prior to the Act’s implementation, as the 
only recourse was to the courts, members of the public frequently put their language rights 
to one side in favour of receiving the required service. The establishment of a statutory 
obligation, and the provision of an independent monitoring and complaints system have 
ensured that individuals can now pursue their language rights without recourse to a slow 
and expensive legal procedure.  This affords them the opportunity to request services in 
their preferred language and seek recourse where they are not available. The corollary can 
also be true however, where people become accustomed to services that are available in 
English only and thus do not seek services in Irish though this may be their preferred 
language of communication. 
 
In addition to the Annual Report, which the Office publishes each year, giving a breakdown 
of statistics for complaints and a report on the investigations, audits and other work of the 
office during the year, the Office has produced two separate commentaries on the working 
of the Official Languages Act.  
 
The first of these reports, published in 2011, was a commentary on the practical application 
and operation of the provisions of the Act. The report highlighted  

- the elements of the Act that were working effectively,  
- the gaps that needed to be addressed 
- the provision of services in Gaeltacht areas 

Tudalen y pecyn 51



7 
 

- the shortcomings in the State’s recruitment policy and  
- the need to properly implement language schemes. 

In November 2011, the Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht initiated a review 
of the Act, which incorporated a public consultation, with a view to revising the legislation.  
The results of the public consultation echoed the recommendations made by the Office in 
its commentary. Heads of Bill were published in April 2014 which were in variance with the 
views of the majority of respondents to the consultation process and were subsequently 
withdrawn. Amended Heads of Bill that were more in line with the consultation findings 
were published in June 2017, and were debated by the Parliamentary Committee on the 
Irish Language, the Gaeltacht and the Islands, which issued its findings in a report in June 
2018. 
 
I issued a second commentary in 2017 in respect of the language scheme system to highlight 
my serious concerns at how the system was being operated. The report found that the 
schemes system has not proved to be as effective a mechanism for delivery of services as 
was envisioned when the Act was first enacted. Having undertaken analysis of the schemes 
which had been confirmed by the Minister in 2015 and 2016, it was established by the 
Office that: 

- Commitments that were the subject of an investigation were reduced or set aside in 
64% of the following language schemes agreed 

- There was an inordinate delay in agreeing language schemes and close to 50% of 
schemes had expired without a new scheme being agreed 

- Follow on schemes contained very few additional services and regression in 
commitments could be detected in 52% of such schemes agreed in 2015 and 2016.  

- Less than 20% of schemes agreed in 2015/2016 had specified post designated with 
an Irish language requirement 

- The provisions made in relation to services in Gaeltacht regions were inadequate 
In essence the operation of the language scheme system had stalled, regressed and was no 
longer an effective mechanism to deliver public services in both official languages. 
 

i. Proposed Legislation 
Almost seven years have passed since the review of the Official Languages Act was 
initiated.  That process has not been without controversy.  The original proposal to 
merge the Office with that of the Ombudsman’s was abandoned when no obvious 
synergies, cost savings, policy or operational benefits could be detected.  The 
pathway towards a more fit for purpose legislation with the necessary policy 
initiatives has been fraught with difficulties and have not yet reached a successful 
conclusion. 
 
The Heads of Bill published in 2017 provide a better foundation for the delivery of 
public services in the Irish language as it seeks to address key policy deficiencies and 
shortcomings in the operation of the legislation. 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 52



8 
 

A number of recommendations were made in my Commentary on the Act, aimed at 
improving the provision of services through Irish to those who require them.  At the 
core of these recommendations was a realisation that the delivery of services 
required sufficient capacity and an appropriate legislative system.  The recruitment 
of staff competent in the Irish language and a revision of the schemes system were 
key requirements.  I also highlighted the need to formulate a national plan for the 
provision of public services in the Irish language which would guide the setting of 
national, sectoral or organisation specific standards.  Such a plan would assess the 
current capacity of the public sector to deliver services in the Irish language and set 
out a roadmap, highlighting areas of priority, towards the delivery of an improved 
level of service. The necessity to independently monitor and assess the 
implementation of the plan would be a prerequisite to engender confidence in the 
process. 
 
The Minister accepted the findings of the report and has included a number of the 
recommendations in the Heads of Bill for the revised Language Act which issued in 
June 2017. Our understanding is that the revised Bill is to be published in early 
autumn, with a view to being put before parliament in the late autumn or spring.  
 
 
 

4. Conclusions 
Since its introduction in 2003 the effect of the Official Languages Act has been, in general, a 
positive one.  The Act has provided citizens with an official mechanism that can deal with 
their complaints regarding the provision of public services in Irish without the need to seek 
redress in the Courts.  It has also created a culture where public bodies are more cognisant 
of their duties to provide additional services in the Irish language and the requirement to 
provide those services to the same standard as they are provided in English.    
 
The lack of capacity of functional bilinguals within the Irish public sector has been the single 
greatest challenge to the delivery of quality public services in the Irish language.  The failure 
to address this matter by way of an effective recruitment policy has hindered the impact of 
the legislation and this has manifested itself in a weak language scheme system that is now 
discredited. The inability to clearly plan for the delivery of a bilingual public service has 
resulted in a piecemeal type approach that concreates on the individual public body rather 
than working towards a national strategy or plan. Achieving an identifiable end-goal is 
something that must be addressed through a legislative based public-service plan for the 
Irish language as part of a revised Official Languages Act.  
 
The appointment of a Commissioner with powers similar to that of an Ombudsman has 
copper fastened the status and the authority of this Office.  It has also assisted with 
establishing the identity, independence, transparency and accountability of the 
Commissioner in a fashion similar to other language commissioner’s offices throughout the 

Tudalen y pecyn 53



9 
 

world. The importance of having a single Commissioner cannot be overstated in ensuring 
the efficient and smooth operation of an office.  A single voice speaks with authority and 
assurance and provides confidence and continuity.  
 
I believe that language-effective legislation is a key component in any Government strategy 
to support the use and status of an official language. Legislation that not only protects 
language rights but also provides for the delivery of public services is a prerequisite if a 
lesser used language is to have equal status.  This presupposes that a sufficient number of 
language speakers exist that wish to avail of those services in the lesser used language. To 
deny speakers of a lesser used language the opportunity to access public services in their 
own language lessens the importance and status of their language and results in a vicious 
circle that can only result in an ever decreasing number of speakers. Without the necessary 
legislative protection it is hard to imagine how speakers of a lesser used language or of a 
minority language can have confidence that necessary and essential services will be 
available to them in their language of choice.   
 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 54



 

 1 

Ofcom’s EPG prominence consultation 

ITV PLC’s response 

Summary 
PSB is critical to our democracy, to our culture and to our economy 

For most of the post-war period in the UK, public service broadcasting (PSB) has made a vital 
contribution to the UK economy, to our culture, and to our democracy. PSBs still account for 
the bulk of spend on high quality original UK TV content each year (c.£2.5bn). This content 
delivers the PSB purposes – informing our understanding of the world, stimulating 
knowledge and learning, reflecting UK culture and identity, and representing diversity and 
different viewpoints. Each PSB makes a distinctive contribution to the system as a whole. 

ITV’s large audiences for original content enable us to raise the revenue to pay for accurate 
and impartial news and current affairs – and ensure a mass audience to consume it. This is 
crucial in an era of fake news and social media filter bubbles. Ofcom data shows that TV 
remains the most important source of news for UK citizens, and the BBC and ITV are the 
most used sources in the UK. ITV reaches 19m viewers per week with its news, reaching a 
great proportion of younger viewers, female viewers, and C2DE viewers than the BBC. 
Ofcom (and separate ITV) research shows that ITV is perceived as the most impartial of all 
the major TV news services1. The provision of high quality nations and regions TV news by 
ITV (and the BBC) is critical to audiences and to democracy as there is little other provision. 
In total, ITV spends around £120 million each year on national, international, nations and 
regions news. 

At a time when national divisions are sometimes stark, PSB programming is able to bring 
people together like little else. Whether it is coverage of the World Cup or the Royal 
Wedding, Saturday night entertainment or high quality UK drama, PSBs play a crucial role in 
bringing the nation together and fuelling the national conversation.  Original content “made 
by us, for us and about us” is the defining cultural purpose of PSB, with ITV dramas like 
Endeavour, Vanity Fair, Marcella, The Good Karma Hospital, Butterfly and Vera at the 
forefront. And of course PSB is about so much more than drama. In the first half of 2018, ITV 
showed 747 programmes with reach of over 3 million viewers across 88 different 
programme titles and 9 different genres.2 The PSB system as a whole delivers substantial 
spend across a wide range of genres, including news, current affairs, drama, children’s 
programming, factual, soaps, entertainment, and comedy.  

The impact of the PSBs extends well beyond the programmes we make. ITV is a global 
business with the nations and regions of the UK at its heart. We work with a huge number 
of independent producers and other suppliers, and employ thousands of people across the 
country’s nations and regions – nearly half of our group employees are outside London. This 
investment underpins the wider creative industries sector, which is growing around three 
times faster than the economy in general, and will have created a million jobs by 2030. 

                                                      
1 Ofcom, News Consumption in the UK: 2018 ( https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/116529/news-consumption-
2018.pdf)  
2 Source: BARB/AdvantEdge. Jan-Jun 2018 Individuals. Programmes 10 mins or over. 

Tudalen y pecyn 55

Eitem 5.1

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/116529/news-consumption-2018.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/116529/news-consumption-2018.pdf


 

 2 

 
PSB is highly valued by citizens and consumers 

Despite a boom in choice, viewing to PSB channels remains high, accounting for over half of 
all TV viewing. When including the portfolio channels from PSB providers, this rises to over 
70%.3 Satisfaction with the system is high, with three-quarters (75%) of regular or 
occasional viewers of any PSB channel claiming to be either very, or quite satisfied. Viewers 
continue to believe that the purposes and characteristics of PSB are important. 

ITV plays a critical role within the PSB system and is performing strongly, recognised by 
audiences in Ofcom research for its “well-made, high-quality programmes.” Whether its 
Coronation Street or Emmerdale, Vanity Fair or Victoria, The X Factor or The Voice, I’m a 
Celebrity or Love Island, coverage of the World Cup or the Tour de France, people love the 
programmes that ITV provides. 

This popularity is reflected in consumption: ITV is the biggest primetime channel in the UK4 
and registered the biggest year-on-year growth of any UK TV channel between 2017 and 
20185, with the channel’s share now standing at 16.9%. The ITV Family is the fastest-
growing group of channels in the UK, with a share of 23.4%. ITV2 in particular is doing well 
and is now the biggest digital channel for 16-34s, overtaking E4. 
 
Globalisation is fundamentally changing the media landscape 

It is increasingly obvious that across many areas of economic life, technological change is 
facilitating intense global competition. The result is a global commercial battle to shape and 
influence what we watch, listen to or buy from the comfort of our homes. Whether it’s 
Amazon’s search results determining what we buy when we shop online, Facebook deciding 
which stories and posts we see on social media, or Google controlling the results when we 
search the internet, these firms are shaping our choices and our influences. 

Unsurprisingly, what we watch on television screens and tablets is emerging as a key 
battleground. Technological change is fundamentally changing the way people watch TV –
superfast broadband delivers streaming services to the home through connected TVs and 
streaming sticks, 4G mobile allows people to watch on demand wherever they are, 
whenever they like. 

Global online platforms and distributors are playing an ever-increasing role in content 
distribution and discovery, attempting to disintermediate UK players. Facebook, Google, 
Amazon and Apple in particular are emerging as key global distributors of video content. 
Global content providers such as Netflix (as well as Apple and Amazon themselves) are 
emerging in parallel.  

In response, other distributors and content providers are consolidating and vertically 
integrating globally – Virgin is owned by Liberty Global and Sky by Comcast. Major TV 
manufacturers are adopting operating systems from global providers such as Google. The 
result is that we are now entering a different phase of competition in UK television driven 

                                                      
3 https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/116006/media-nations-2018-uk.pdf  
4 Source: BARB/AdvantEdge Individuals prime time (1900-2229) SOV 
5 Source: BARB/AdvantEdge Individuals, consolidated, all time Channels include +1 & HD where applicable Weeks1-38, 2018 vs Weeks1-
38, 2017 

Tudalen y pecyn 56

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/116006/media-nations-2018-uk.pdf


 

 3 

by technological change which is facilitating intense global competition for the attention of 
UK audiences. 
 
ITV is taking advantage of the opportunities this offers 

These developments bring real business opportunities for UK television producers. In 
particular, ITV has a growing international production business and has successfully 
produced programmes for both a UK and global audience in partnership with recent 
entrants. ITV Studios is successfully winning global commissions from the likes of Netflix and 
Amazon. We are working through our subsidiary production companies across the world 
and in partnership with other PSBs to maximise revenues globally, launching Britbox US with 
the BBC and investing for the long-term term in the future of Freeview as it develops into a 
full hybrid DTT-IP platform. 
 
ITV is negotiating hard with global platform providers 

As a content distributor, the entry into the market of new competitors has also brought 
opportunity for ITV. Fairly obviously, in every carriage deal ITV enters into, we seek to 
ensure that our content is easy to find and access. To date this has been broadly successful, 
with the ITV Hub present on most major devices and platforms in a reasonably prominent 
position. To become established, many global players have recognised the attraction at the 
outset of accessing national content from players such as the PSBs in order to enter markets 
and build scale. This is because ITV, along with the other PSBs, offers high quality UK 
content that is loved and heavily consumed. In a world of increased choice, consumers 
continue to come to ITV in their millions each day. 
 
Global players have commercial incentives to promote non-PSB content 

But that quality and popularity in the UK may not, by itself, be enough. The PSBs’ medium 
term ability to maintain these positive outcomes is threatened by asymmetric competition 
from global media aggregators and distributors who have long run incentives not to 
promote PSB services (or other national players in other territories).  

[✂]For large vertically integrated global companies there is a clear incentive to promote 
their own content (or that of their commercial partners) globally ahead of that produced by 
the PSBs.  

Platforms that are not vertically integrated in content and distribution nonetheless appear 
to show signs of preferring the convenience and immediate financial benefit of paid-for 
global partnerships with the likes of Netflix, rather than promoting the national content 
(such as that from the PSBs in the UK) that is most relevant and important to citizens and 
consumers in a particular country. This is also occurring worldwide on a country-by-country 
basis. The prominence of Netflix on UI’s and remote controls is an illustration of this. 

The risk is that, over time, popular PSB services become harder and harder to find, edged 
out by global content that delivers a greater benefit to platform operators and aggregators.  

Tudalen y pecyn 57



 

 4 

 

The way in which global players choose to exercise their power will be crucial  

The global TV aggregators and distributors are investing globally in artificial intelligence (AI), 
augmented reality (AR) and data processing on a scale that UK PSB cannot match6. This 
potentially offers much to be excited about for consumers as, over time, content 
recommendations become increasingly intelligent and targeted. But as more and more 
content discovery moves away from lists of channels and VOD services it is also important to 
recognise the potentially negative consequences this may bring. Instead of presenting the 
consumer with all possible options, the risk is that they surface and give prominence to that 
content they have commercial incentives to prioritise. In this world, the quality (or 
local/national popularity) of content alone will not be enough to ensure that consumers are 
made aware of its existence, and broader PSB outcomes are unlikely to be supported by 
global businesses or reflected in purely commercial algorithms. 

User interfaces are only going to get more powerful, more personalised and more influential 
over time. The algorithms driving content recommendation will be powerful: already more 
than 80 per cent of the TV shows people watch on Netflix are reportedly discovered through 
the platform’s recommendation system.7 Recent Ofcom data bears this out: when people 
are using SVOD services it’s not to watch UK content, with three quarters of the top 20 
SVOD programmes in Q1 2018 coming from the USA or Canada. These concerns are not just 
hypothetical: we and the other PSBs are already beginning to experience them across the 
market. 
 
There are already signs that global companies are changing their approach 

[✂] 
 
A very real threat to PSB 

If left unchecked, over time, this emerging control over of content discovery by global 
content aggregators and TV manufacturers will threaten the virtuous circle of investment, 
viewing, and reinvestment that sustains the PSB system. In the medium term we should be 
concerned about the prospects for investment in UK-specific content, investment in key 
genres, and the wider creative economy. This will ultimately impact negatively on our 
democracy and our culture.  

In an era of increasingly intense but asymmetric global competition, the policy concerns 
today are rather different to those of the last few decades. The emerging concern today is 
not about the lack of competition to all-powerful, vertically-integrated PSBs within a 
predominantly domestic market, or about PSBs withholding content from vulnerable 
platforms.  

The concern today should be about how we can safeguard the flourishing free to air, 
universal PSB system we value so highly and which effectively serves citizens and consumers 
in the face of asymmetric competition from powerful, vertically-integrated global firms 

                                                      
6 This is not limited to those from Silicon Valley. Broadcast reports that Jeremy Darroch described Artificial intelligence, personalisation 
and on-demand content as among the “decisive bets” being laid by Sky. https://www.broadcastnow.co.uk/the-tech-bets-at-the-heart-of-
skys-plans/5132565.article  
7 https://www.wired.co.uk/article/how-do-netflixs-algorithms-work-machine-learning-helps-to-predict-what-viewers-will-like  

Tudalen y pecyn 58

https://www.broadcastnow.co.uk/the-tech-bets-at-the-heart-of-skys-plans/5132565.article
https://www.broadcastnow.co.uk/the-tech-bets-at-the-heart-of-skys-plans/5132565.article
https://www.wired.co.uk/article/how-do-netflixs-algorithms-work-machine-learning-helps-to-predict-what-viewers-will-like


 

 5 

operating in a global market. At the heart of this will be the increasing inability of the PSBs 
to ensure that people can easily find and access the content they have paid for, directly or 
indirectly, that supports the UK’s economy, culture and democracy. This is an issue that is 
not just of concern in the UK but across Europe too.  

The power of the PSBs working in partnership, notably through Freeview Play, have hitherto 
helped to some extent in negotiations with global players. This is particularly true at a time 
when most operators are still in the process of designing and optimising their user 
interfaces. [✂]   

Experience in the linear space suggests that once user interfaces have become firmly 
embedded, reinforced by global commercial contracts, it becomes increasingly difficult and 
disruptive to change their layout and the ordering of services within them8. Reform of the 
regime now, whilst the market is still taking shape, will help overcome the negative 
externalities outlined. Relying on intervention ex post will be exceptionally challenging, if 
not impossible. Concerted action by Ofcom and by Government is therefore needed to 
support the steps taken by the PSBs before these trends fundamentally alter the UK media 
ecology. 
 
The prominence regime needs to be reformed 

From the beginning of multichannel TV in the UK, Parliament has insisted that PSB services 
should be prominent on EPGs. This priority remains but needs adapting in an era of global 
content production and distribution. To support the steps being taken by the PSBs to 
compete in global market against international online players and global content providers, 
Government must reform the EPG prominence intervention to reflect the changing market 
and allow UK PSB to compete effectively. 
 
The prominence regime must continue to deliver high levels of visibility for PSB content 

It is important that UK consumers benefit from the innovations that are emerging from 
global technology companies. However, at the same time, it is important that the major 
players in TV content distribution, both now and in future, who are investing heavily, have 
clarity at the outset about the degree of prominence expected for PSB in the UK market.  

We believe the most effective legislative updates will not be based on trying to predict what 
future technologies for finding and accessing content will look like. Instead, key outcomes 
should be enshrined in legislation, and include a right to significant prominence for PSBs. 
Specifically, this should include: 

• Significant prominence for all PSB linear services and associated on-demand services 
provided by a PSB (or several PSBs): The Secretary of State should maintain (and 
have the power to vary by Order) a list of these ‘in-scope services’. 

• Significant prominence on all major user interfaces: the regime should cover those 
who exercise editorial control of all user interfaces (UIs) on all major platforms, 
devices and services in the UK to consume TV or TV-like content. The Secretary of 

                                                      
8 This is particularly the case for smart televisions given the lengthy replacement cycle (5-7 years) once purchased. 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



 

 6 

State should have the power to vary this definition by Order. In the event of dispute 
about whether a UI is in-scope, Ofcom should determine.9 

The law should place a requirement on Ofcom to define ‘significant prominence’ within its 
guidance. It should also require Ofcom’s guidance to specify: 

• Which UI functions in-scope services should be prominent within, including (but not 
limited to) all those areas of UIs: 

o Positioned by the UI provider as central to the user experience: This will vary 
by UI as different providers emphasise different functionality, but is generally 
likely to include homepages, linear EPGs; VOD player landing pages; search 
and recommendations; or 

o Used by a substantial number of people to access TV or TV-like content: It is 
possible that areas of a UI are not prominently positioned but nonetheless 
have significant appeal to consumers10. Such functions are likely to include 
linear EPGs and VOD player landing pages. 

• The degree of prominence to be provided, including (but not limited to): 

o Where services are discoverable in their entirety (e.g. VOD app landing 
pages), in-scope services are easily discoverable and quick to access; and 

o Where individual pieces of content are discoverable as a result of editorial 
decisions and/or algorithmic curation, a substantial amount of such content 
should be immediately visible and attributable to the relevant PSB, and quick 
to access. The individual content displayed should be chosen by the relevant 
PSBs from the total catalogue of their in-scope services. 

 
In putting in place its guidance, Ofcom should be required to have regard to: 

• The need to deliver consumer benefit: High quality UK PSB content remains popular 
with UK audiences, and remains the bulk of content consumed despite the growth in 
choice. The prominence intervention should ensure that this popular content is not 
marginalised by global operators with an incentive to dilute consumer appetite for 
UK content over time and/or deliver global content deals and arrangements. 

• The need to deliver citizen benefit: it is important that UI and content providers are 
able to continue to innovate to meet the demands their consumers. Taking account 
of consumer expectations is a part of this. But it is equally important that the citizen 
interest is served, for instance by ensuring a wide range of content from the PSBs is 
promoted, so ensuring people are encouraged to watch content that delivers the 
purposes and characteristics of PSB that they might not ordinarily have chosen. 
Where such interests appear to be in tension, the citizen benefit should take 
precedence. 

                                                      
9 In considering what constitutes a ‘major platform’ Ofcom should have the discretion to take into account a range of factors as it sees 
appropriate, potentially including the number of users, the volume of viewing delivered, its importance to certain demographics, or its 
place in the wider market. 
10 For example, linear EPGs remain a popular way to access programmes yet a platform might chose to make the EPG much less 
prominent 

Tudalen y pecyn 60



 

 7 

• The need for prominence to be free and non-contingent: The degree of prominence 
offered by EPG operators should not be made contingent on other factors (e.g. 
prominence should not be reduced unless VOD rights are granted) or require 
payment by PSBs. 

• The importance of ensuring sufficient transparency: UI operators should be open 
with consumers and industry about how they decide which content to include in 
which areas of their UI, and how they choose to promote it. This should include not 
only decisions about PSB prominence but also any commercial arrangements (e.g. 
paid-for prominence), editorial decisions, and any data / algorithmic approaches 
taken. Such transparency is important in relation to all scheduling and promotion, 
whether PSB or non-PSB content and services. 

• The right of consumers to personalise: PSB prominence should not be enforced 
above audiences’ own direct actions (e.g. viewers should be free to set their own 
favourites menu or rearrange the order of apps on a page). Nor should prominence 
override requests for specific programme assets with a single possible outcome (e.g. 
‘show me episode 2, series 3 of…’). But in search with any ambiguity, where more 
than one outcome may be presented or served to consumers, prominence rules 
should apply. 

Such a regime can be implemented in a way that is both proportionate and effective, 
potentially functioning in a broadly similar manner to the way it does today (with some 
enhancements).  
 
The regime must also provide clarity, with clearly defined roles for Government, regulator 
and UI providers 

Currently, the EPG prominence legislation is enabling. It delegates power to the Secretary of 
State to set the channels within scope and enables Ofcom to decide how to apply the code. 
We believe the legislation should be updated to reflect developments in the market: 

• Government: should retain enabling legislation, setting in law the required outcomes 
and giving the Secretary of State powers (after consulting Ofcom) to amend which 
services are in scope and the criteria by which user interfaces are assessed to be in 
scope so that the regime can be updated more easily as and when technology and 
audience needs and expectations change; 

• UI providers: should be given the space to design products that work for consumers 
and foster competition, but given clarity as they do so on the minimum expectations 
of PSB prominence that those products should deliver. The regime should amend the 
existing requirement from publishing an EPG Policy to publishing a UI policy. Policies 
should be required to set out how UI providers have taken account of the views of 
the providers of ‘in-scope services’ and Ofcom; and  

• Ofcom: should continue to hold responsibility for updating the prominence code, 
giving guidance as to practices to be followed, as it does today with the linear EPG 
code. It should determine whether user interfaces are in scope where there is 
disagreement. It should have a backstop role in compliance, taking firm action as 
necessary if either policies or outcomes do not comply with its code or guidance. 
Consideration should be given to the merits of requiring Ofcom to conduct reviews 

Tudalen y pecyn 61



 

 8 

of the effectiveness of the intervention, perhaps every 3-5 years. It should continue 
its role in relation to FRND for UI relationships beyond prominence. 

This approach will ensure that PSBs can continue to play their vital role in the UK’s 
democracy, culture and creative economy, whilst giving platforms and user interface 
operators the freedom to innovate. 
 

Ofcom is right to ensure the linear regime remains effective but needs to rethink its 
approach to ensure its proposals are proportionate 

ITV is clear and unequivocal in its support for prominence for PSB services.  However, with 
fourteen11 such services eligible for some form of prominence, clearly not all of these can be 
in the first slot or even on the first page. This means judgment is required in considering 
what degree of prominence is appropriate and proportionate for each service.  

We agree with Ofcom’s approach to distinguish between the degree of prominence 
required for the main five channels versus the others. The five main PSBs carry the most 
onerous public obligations, invest the most heavily in meeting them, and are intended for 
consumption by everyone in the UK. They are also the most used and most popular. As 
such, the highest degree of prominence is merited. 

The proposal to ring-fence the first five slots in linear lists for the main channels appears 
unlikely to deliver any incremental public value. The combination of market dynamics in 
linear channel provision and the current high level requirement for ‘appropriate 
prominence’ would likely result in these channels retaining these positions due to their 
popularity with audiences and long history of being located in these slots. As such, whilst we 
do not oppose such a requirement nor do we believe it offers any material additional 
benefit to us. 

Beyond the five main services, we believe Ofcom’s proposals do not strike quite the right 
balance between affording all PSBs some degree of prominence and minimising the impact 
on the market. This is in part because Ofcom does not appear to have assessed the cost to 
commercial broadcasters, [✂]. 

Whilst increased prominence might result in a small degree of increased consumption, the 
other factors that drive consumption (that Ofcom itself has identified) such as channel 
brand, audience loyalty, and the quality or appeal of content will remain unaltered and act 
as major constraints to consumption growth. This is particularly true for channels in 
indigenous minority languages or offering distinctive special interest content. 

[✂] in order to promote a small number of niche PSB services. It seems implausible that 
such changes could result in a growth in total TV consumption. The channels being 
promoted are somewhat niche in nature and, as such, already likely to be consumed by 
those with an interest. [✂]  

Such a disproportionate approach, [✂]is particularly disappointing at a time when 
commercial television – and commercial PSB – is already under pressure due to the increase 

                                                      
11 BBC One, BBC Two, BBC Four, CBBC, CBeebies, BBC News, BBC Parliament, BBC Alba and forthcoming the BBC Scotland, ITV/STV, 
Channel 4, Channel 5, S4C, and local television services 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



 

 9 

in on demand viewing and asymmetric competition with international firms operating under 
substantially lower legal and regulatory burdens. 

Ofcom therefore needs to [✂] 

Absent a full impact assessment, ITV suggests that Ofcom should seek to mitigate the risk to 
the market by lowering the page threshold (or lower slot limit) from the first three to the 
first five pages. Such an approach would achieve Ofcom’s policy objective of prominence for 
the smaller PSB services using “…the least intrusive means…,” in line with Ofcom’s own 
guidance  

Tudalen y pecyn 63



 

 10 

Section 1: Context 
PSB is critical to our democracy, to our culture and to our economy 

Ofcom’s first Media Nations report12 showed that in 2017 just over £7.5 billion was spent on 
network television programmes by UK channels. It also showed that the PSBs and their 
commercial portfolio channels still accounted for the bulk of this spend (over £3 billion), 
with the rest of the sector (defined by Ofcom as ‘Other multichannels’) contributing just 
under £1.2 billion on content other than sports. The bulk of this spend by PSB channels and 
PSB commercial portfolios is on new first run UK content (Ofcom puts this figure at just 
under £2.8 billion).  

This investment funds programming that delivers the PSB purposes – informing our 
understanding of the world, stimulating knowledge and learning, reflecting UK culture and 
identity, and representing diversity and different viewpoints. Each PSB makes a distinctive 
contribution to the system as a whole. 

ITV’s large audiences for original content enable us to raise the revenue to pay for accurate 
and impartial news and current affairs – and ensure a mass audience to consume it. This is 
crucial in an era of fake news, social media filter bubbles, declining trust in public 
institutions and ever more challenging business models supporting the production of high 
quality international, national, regional and local news are under pressure. 

Ofcom’s publication News Consumption in the UK shows that TV remains the most 
important source of news for UK citizens and that the BBC and ITV are the most used 
sources in the UK. ITV reaches 19m viewers per week with its news, reaching a greater 
proportion of younger viewers, female viewers, and C2DE viewers than the BBC. ITV is 
perceived as the most impartial of all the major TV news services13. The provision of high 
quality nations and regions TV news by ITV (and the BBC) is critical to audiences as there is 
little other provision. In total, ITV spends around £120 million each year on national, 
international, nations and regions news. 

The influence of the PSB extends online, with the BBC and ITV among the top 3 most-
followed news providers on Facebook, Twitter and Instagram. PSB output is highly trusted 
and viewed as impartial, in stark contrast to audience attitudes to social media.14 

At a time when national divisions are sometimes stark, PSB programming is able to bring 
people together like little else. Whether it is coverage of the World Cup or the Royal 
Wedding, Saturday night entertainment or high quality UK drama, PSBs play a crucial role in 
bringing the nation together and fuelling the national conversation.  

Original content “made by us, for us and about us” is the defining cultural purpose of PSB, 
with ITV dramas like Endeavour, Vanity Fair, Marcella, The Good Karma Hospital, Butterfly 
and Vera at the forefront. And of course PSB is about so much more than drama. In the first 
half of 2018, ITV showed 747 programmes with reach of over 3 million viewers across 88 
different programme titles and 9 different genres.15 The PSB system as a whole delivers 

                                                      
12 https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/116006/media-nations-2018-uk.pdf  
13 Ofcom, News Consumption in the UK: 2018 ( https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/116529/news-consumption-
2018.pdf) 
14 https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/116529/news-consumption-2018.pdf  
15 Source: BARB/AdvantEdge. Jan-Jun 2018 Individuals. Programmes 10 mins or over. 

Tudalen y pecyn 64

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/116006/media-nations-2018-uk.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/116529/news-consumption-2018.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/116529/news-consumption-2018.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/116529/news-consumption-2018.pdf


 

 11 

substantial spend across a wide range of genres, including news, current affairs, drama, 
children’s programming, factual, soaps, entertainment, and comedy.  

The impact of PSBs extends well beyond the programmes we make. ITV is a global business 
with the nations and regions of the UK at its heart. We work with a huge number of 
independent producers and other suppliers, and employ thousands of people across the 
country’s nations and regions – nearly half of our group employees are outside London. This 
investment underpins the wider creative industries sector, which is growing around three 
times faster than the economy in general, and will have created a million jobs by 2030. 
British content is loved not only at home but also abroad, accounting for around half the 
international trade in entertainment formats. 
 

PSB is highly valued by citizens and consumers 

Ofcom’s own research shows that, despite the proliferation of choice in recent years, 
viewing to PSB channels remains high, accounting for over half of all TV viewing. When 
including the portfolio channels from PSB providers, this rises to over 70%.16 

Satisfaction with the system is high, with three-quarters (75%) of regular or occasional 
viewers of any PSB channel claiming to be either very, or quite satisfied. Viewers continue to 
believe that the purposes and characteristics of PSB – such as informing our understanding 
of the world, reflecting UK cultural identity, and providing high quality, original 
programming – are important. 

ITV plays a critical role within the PSB system and is performing strongly, recognised by 
audiences for its “well-made, high-quality programmes,” with 82% of respondents to 
Ofcom’s survey rating ITV highly for this. 

This popularity is reflected in consumption. ITV registered the biggest year-on-year growth 
on an UK TV channel between 2017 and 201817, with the channel’s share now standing at 
16.9%. It is also the biggest primetime channel in the UK18.  

ITV’s total share, including its portfolio channels, is 23.4%. The ITV Family is the fastest-
growing group of channels in the UK. ITV2 in particular is doing well, with a total share of 
over 6%. It is now the biggest digital channel for 16-34s, overtaking E4. 
 

Globalisation is fundamentally changing the media landscape 

It is increasingly obvious that across many areas of economic life, technological change is 
facilitating intense global competition. The result is a global commercial battle to shape and 
influence what we watch, listen to or buy from the comfort of our homes. Whether it’s 
Amazon’s search results determining what we buy when we shop online, Facebook deciding 
which stories and posts we see on social media, or Google controlling the results when we 
search the internet, these firms are shaping our choices and our influences. 

                                                      
16 https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/116006/media-nations-2018-uk.pdf  
17 Source: BARB/AdvantEdge Individuals, consolidated, all time Channels include +1 & HD where applicable Weeks1-38, 2018 vs Weeks1-
38, 2017 
18 Source: BARB/AdvantEdge Individuals prime time (1900-2229) SOV 

Tudalen y pecyn 65

https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/116006/media-nations-2018-uk.pdf


 

 12 

Unsurprisingly, what we watch on television screens and tablets is emerging as a key 
battleground. Technological change is fundamentally changing the way people watch TV –
superfast broadband delivers streaming services to the home through connected TVs and 
streaming sticks, 4G mobile allows people to watch on demand wherever they are, 
whenever they like. 

Global online platforms and distributors are playing an ever-increasing role in content 
distribution and discovery, attempting to disintermediate UK players. Facebook, Google, 
Amazon and Apple in particular are emerging as key global distributors of video content. 
Major TV manufacturers are adopting operating systems from global providers such as 
Google. Global content providers such as Netflix (as well as Apple and Amazon themselves) 
are emerging in parallel.  

In response, other distributors and content providers are consolidating and vertically 
integrating globally – Virgin is owned by Liberty Global and Sky by Comcast.  

The result is that we are now entering a different phase of competition in UK television 
driven by technological change which is facilitating intense global competition for the 
attention of UK audiences. There is clear evidence that younger people in particular are 
spending more and more time watching content on demand. Some of this consumption is 
shifting to the online services of linear TV players, some is shifting to new entrant online 
offerings and some away from TV content entirely. The main players in every point of the 
supply chain are now global technology firms and content aggregators. 
 
Content funding and production 

It is increasingly clear that a global market for TV content is emerging rapidly. The scale of 
investment in content of global appeal by global players has been widely discussed in the 
media, although accurate and consistent numbers are hard to come by. BCG’s The Future of 
Television suggested that Netflix and Amazon’s spend on content was comparable to that of 
the major US networks: 

Annual content spend Netflix and Amazon vs. top five US cable networks, 201619 

 

 

That spend has increased dramatically since 2016, with Netflix originally setting its content 
budget for 2018 at $8bn and media reports suggesting this has now risen further, 

                                                      
19 BCG, The Future of Television (2016) 

Tudalen y pecyn 66



 

 13 

potentially as high as $13 billion.20 Amazon is reported to be spending between $4-5 billion 
this year.21  At one level these figures are unmatched in the UK market, whether by the PSBs 
combined or by purely commercial providers.  But, of course, these aggregate content 
spend numbers are for the whole world in contrast to PSB content investment which is still 
focussed primarily on engaging UK audiences.  

The stimulus provided to the UK TV production market by the array of new players is clearly 
welcome economically. Making /commissioning TV programmes in the UK is clearly 
increasingly attractive.  Many players that are investing in/making new content in the UK 
each year are part of global groups, including both broadcasters – for instance Sky (now 
owned by Comcast); Discovery (a US based company) etc – as well as the production 
companies supplying them – such as All3Media (Liberty Global), Shed Media (Warner Bros), 
Left Bank Pictures (Sony), Shine and Kudos (Endemol) and Carnival (NBCU). 

Content distribution and discovery 

The presence of global groups is not limited simply to content production and channel 
ownership.  Even more importantly, they are also increasingly present in content 
distribution and discovery, where we are moving rapidly from the old world of bespoke 
national platforms and televisions that were simply screens to the new, where platforms, 
services and devices are global products with little or no national variation. 

This is not just about new online players but can also be seen in the changing approaches of 
more established TV platforms which are themselves increasingly part of global groups 
facing increasingly intense competition from the emerging online platforms.   So, for 
instance, just under half of all UK households’ television services22 are provided by 
companies that are subsidiaries of global cable/entertainment groups:  Virgin Media (owned 
by Liberty Global) and Sky (now owned by Comcast).  

In this context, the importance of securing the long-term future of the Freeview platform 
clear. Reaching 20m households23, owned and controlled by the UK’s PSBs, hitherto it has 
ensured high quality UK content is widely available, easily discoverable, and free to all. 

Even in households where Freeview is the primary TV service, however, the take up of 
connected TVs and devices is growing. The number of households with a connected TV, 
including streaming sticks and consoles, has risen from 30% in 2012 to 77% in 2017. Sales of 
smart TVs complete with apps from SVOD and broadcasters have significantly increased in 
recent years, and now account for just under 80% of TV sales. This is a market dominated by 
international firms, such as Samsung, Sony, LG, Amazon, Apple. 

There is a growing trend for these firms to be vertically integrated – involved not only in the 
distribution of content but also in investing heavily in their own content production. And, it 
is no longer necessary for these global players to even to have a broadcasting licence or 
platform in order to reach audiences in the UK. Some of the most popular routes to content 
– Netflix, Amazon Prime, YouTube and NowTV – are delivered via IP, with on-demand 

                                                      
20 https://www.economist.com/briefing/2018/06/30/netflix-is-moving-television-beyond-time-slots-and-national-markets  
21 https://www.mediapost.com/publications/article/315055/amazon-expected-to-spend-5-billion-on-video-conte.html  
22 https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/116006/media-nations-2018-uk.pdf  
23 http://www.digitaluk.co.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/94308/Digital_UK_Spectrum_factsheet_May_2018.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 67

https://www.economist.com/briefing/2018/06/30/netflix-is-moving-television-beyond-time-slots-and-national-markets
https://www.mediapost.com/publications/article/315055/amazon-expected-to-spend-5-billion-on-video-conte.html
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/116006/media-nations-2018-uk.pdf
http://www.digitaluk.co.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/94308/Digital_UK_Spectrum_factsheet_May_2018.pdf


 

 14 

services licensed very differently from broadcasting services in the UK. The growth in take-
up of these services has been very substantial in recent years. 

 
Source: Ofcom. Media Nations 2018. 

 

As such, consumers have access to more content than ever before, and this choice is 
undoubtedly a good thing in general. But such choice can also be overwhelming without a 
trusted guide helping you to discover programming of most relevance to you. Improved 
recommendations and personalisation, if done well, could undoubtedly benefit consumers 
and citizens.  

This means that control of routes to content discovery – control of consumer eyeballs – is 
becoming an increasingly critical part of the market that is emerging. Amazon is looking to 
control voice search, Google is seeking to become the standard operating system for smart 
TVs, with Android TV, while Netflix and others are seeking global deals for the most 
prominent positions in UIs.  

Such power over what people choose to watch, if vested in only a handful of companies, 
could result in less than positive outcomes. The picture here, again, is one of the emerging 
power of global content service providers and content aggregators – Samsung, Amazon, 
Google, Apple, Sky and Roku. Each with global business models and little interest in the 
public benefits and investment delivered by UK PSB.  

There are good reasons to believe that this combination vertical integration and global 
business models will have a negative impact on the UK market. 
 

ITV is taking advantage of the opportunities a global market offers 

To be clear, the growth in global demand for content has brought economic advantages to 
UK producers.   So, for instance, ITV has a growing international production business and 
has successfully produced programmes for both a UK and global audience in partnership 
with recent entrants. ITV Studios is successfully winning global commissions from the likes 
of Netflix and Amazon.  

Recent global production highlights include: 

• Queer Eye, made by ITV America (part of ITV Studios) and Scout Productions, 
debuted on Netflix in February this year, with the second season following soon 
afterwards and a third due to air in 2019. The show won three Creative Arts Emmy 

Tudalen y pecyn 68



 

 15 

Awards: Outstanding Structured Reality Series, Outstanding Picture Editing for a 
Structured or Competition Reality Program, and Outstanding Casting for a Reality 
Program 

• Love Island has been commissioned in the US by CBS for a 20-episode series, which 
will be produced by ITV Entertainment, an ITV America company part of ITV Studios 

• ITV Studios Australia to produce the first ever Australian version of Saturday Night 
Takeaway. Called Sunday Night Takeaway, commissioned by Network Ten 

• ITV Studios France winning a number of recommissions, including a new season of 
I’m a Celebrity… Get Me Out Of Here! for TF1, The Voice, and Four Weddings 

• Dancing on Ice in pre-production in Germany, through ITV Studios Germany 

Similarly, new ways of distributing content online open up the possibility for ITV of reaching 
new audiences directly. So, for instance, we are working in partnership with other PSBs to 
maximise our audience and revenue online, launching Britbox US with the BBC and investing 
for the long-term term in the future of Freeview as it develops into a full hybrid DTT-IP 
platform. 
 

ITV is negotiating hard with global platform providers.  

Similarly, the growth of new TV platforms also presents opportunities for ITV as a content 
and channel wholesaler.  Fairly obviously, in every carriage deal ITV enters into, we seek to 
ensure that our content is easy to find and access. To date this has been broadly successful, 
with the ITV Hub present on most major devices and platforms in a reasonably prominent 
position.  

This has been helped by that fact that, to become established, many global players have 
recognised the attraction at the outset of accessing national content from players such as 
the PSBs in order to build scale. This is because ITV, along with the other PSBs, offers high 
quality UK content that is loved and heavily consumed by consumers. In a world of 
increased choice, consumers continue to come to ITV in their millions each day. 

The combination of these incentives and ITV’s strong content offer have to date helped 
ensure positive outcomes for ITV on major content platforms and services. However, it is 
apparent that global players also have the incentives, and increasingly the ability to act on 
them, that could potentially threaten these outcomes. 
 

Global players have commercial incentives to promote non-PSB content 

The PSBs’ medium term ability to maintain these positive outcomes is potentially 
threatened by asymmetric competition from global media aggregators and distributors who 
have long run incentives not to promote PSB services (or other national players in other 
territories).  

For large vertically integrated global companies there is a clear incentive to promote their 
own content ahead of that produced by the PSBs. This may take the form of content 
decisions – which content is promoted where – or be reflected in the structure of user 
interfaces – which might seek to relegate those areas where PSB performs well to less 
obvious locations within the overall UI.  [✂]    

Tudalen y pecyn 69



 

 16 

Content discovery businesses will also be heavily incentivised to promote content from 
commercial partners globally in return for payment. [✂] Global business models mean that 
user interface operators are likely to have a preference for striking single, global, paid-for 
deals with global content players, which are easier to negotiate, more lucrative than 
territory-by-territory deals, and certainly far more efficient for providers looking to roll out 
platforms globally. The result can be the first few slots on a smart TV homepage being 
occupied across the globe by global content players (e.g. Netflix) at launch. 

These incentives will remain strong even if domestic content retains a strong appeal for UK 
audiences. While it is early in the development of these technologies for television, 
accusations of such behaviour have already surfaced in comparable areas.24 

Such an outcome would be of grave concern, particularly given the increasing importance of 
user data and analytics could result in a handful of ‘white label’ user interfaces come to 
dominate the device market ([✂]) in the same way that a handful of interfaces have come 
to dominate online retail. 

The risk is that popular PSB services become harder and harder to find, edged out by global 
content that delivers a greater benefit to platform operators. 
 

The way in which global players choose to exercise their power will be crucial  

Content discovery was straightforward in a world where the only option was linear 
broadcast. In channel listings, the main PSB channels occupy the top slots because this is 
where they have always been – and, as Ofcom’s own work shows, it is where consumers 
expect them to be. Despite the explosion of choice offered by multichannel television, and 
an Ofcom Code that allows platforms full discretion in how they choose to define 
‘appropriate prominence’, the presence of the PSBs at the top of EPG listings has never 
been seriously challenged. Hitherto the market for TV has been overwhelmingly national 
rather than global. 

However, the majority of consumer routes to content are no longer so simple. People are 
able to search – by text or by voice, to follow recommendations, browse programmes by 
genre or actor, choose between live and on-demand services, or press specific buttons on 
their remote controls to launch individual services. Often all of these functions and services 
are brought together within a single smart connected user interface.  

These user interfaces and their myriad functions and tools do not offer single, standard 
products, identical for each user. Instead, the major players in the content discovery market 
are increasingly using or developing interfaces that can draw on the power of machine 
learning, artificial intelligence, augmented reality, and extensive data analytics to offered 
more personalised services.  

The result will be a powerful, targeted user experience. Sky, for example, is reportedly 
developing technologies that will tailor its recommendations according to your mood,25 
while Samsung’s Universal Guide “…reflects the latest trends, in addition to the user’s past 

                                                      
24 https://www.propublica.org/article/amazon-says-it-puts-customers-first-but-its-pricing-algorithm-doesnt  
25 https://www.computerworlduk.com/data/how-sky-is-looking-recommend-movies-according-your-mood-3673839/  

Tudalen y pecyn 70

https://www.propublica.org/article/amazon-says-it-puts-customers-first-but-its-pricing-algorithm-doesnt
https://www.computerworlduk.com/data/how-sky-is-looking-recommend-movies-according-your-mood-3673839/


 

 17 

viewing patterns…”26 with aspirations that “…the algorithm will evolve to be able to cater to 
individual user needs, instead of recognizing the viewing patterns of the whole family.”  

Such ambitions are not limited to device manufacturers and TV platform operators. Netflix 
has said that: 

“We want our recommendations to be accurate in that they are relevant to the 
tastes of our members, but they also need to be diverse so that we can address the 
spectrum of a member’s interests versus only focusing on one. We want to be able to 
highlight the depth in the catalog we have in those interests and also the breadth we 
have across other areas to help our members explore and even find new interests. 
We want our recommendations to be fresh and responsive to the actions a member 
takes, such as watching a show, adding to their list, or rating; but we also want some 
stability so that people are familiar with their homepage and can easily find videos 
they’ve been recommended in the recent past.”27 

Its public explanations of how it makes its recommendations and how it decides which 
content to make most prominent amply demonstrates the power and complexity of its 
approach.28 

This potentially offers much to be excited about for consumers as, over time, content 
recommendations become increasingly intelligent and targeted. But as more and more 
content discovery moves away from lists of channels and VOD services it is also important to 
recognise the potentially negative consequences this may bring too.  

For established pay TV operators and more recent entrants alike, this sophistication offers 
the opportunity to push their own content at consumers ahead of that from the PSBs, so 
potentially increasing subscriber retention by highlighting exclusive content over free-to-air 
PSB.  

The resulting algorithms are powerful: more than 80 per cent of the TV shows people watch 
on Netflix are reportedly discovered through the platform’s recommendation system.29  

Recent Ofcom data bears this out: when people are using SVOD services it’s not to watch UK 
content, with three quarters of the top 20 SVOD programmes in Q1 2018 coming from the 
USA or Canada. 

                                                      
26 https://news.samsung.com/global/all-in-on-ai-part-4-your-personal-guide-helps-find-your-new-favorite-tv-show  
27 https://medium.com/netflix-techblog/learning-a-personalized-homepage-aa8ec670359a  
28 https://medium.com/netflix-techblog/netflix-recommendations-beyond-the-5-stars-part-1-55838468f429  
29 https://www.wired.co.uk/article/how-do-netflixs-algorithms-work-machine-learning-helps-to-predict-what-viewers-will-like  

Tudalen y pecyn 71

https://news.samsung.com/global/all-in-on-ai-part-4-your-personal-guide-helps-find-your-new-favorite-tv-show
https://medium.com/netflix-techblog/learning-a-personalized-homepage-aa8ec670359a
https://medium.com/netflix-techblog/netflix-recommendations-beyond-the-5-stars-part-1-55838468f429
https://www.wired.co.uk/article/how-do-netflixs-algorithms-work-machine-learning-helps-to-predict-what-viewers-will-like


 

 18 

 
Source: Ofcom. Media Nations 2018. 

 

In future, these interfaces are only going to get more powerful, as Viaccess Orca’s Director 
of Product Management, Content Discovery & Personalization observes: 

“Contextual recommendation is the new frontier: algorithms that will be 
sophisticated enough and have enough data to work with, that they will be able to 
suggest what viewers want to watch at precisely that moment and get it right the 
majority of the time. And with sophisticated AI increasingly penetrating the home — 
Amazon has already incorporated its Alexa intelligent personal assistant into its Fire 
TV stick — TV content personalization is going to become the new normal fairly 
rapidly.”30 

Instead of presenting the consumer with all possible options, the risk is that they surface 
and give prominence to that content they have commercial incentives to prioritise. In this 
world, the quality (or local/national popularity) of content alone will not be enough to 
ensure that consumers are made aware of its existence, and broader PSB outcomes are 
unlikely to be supported by global businesses or reflected in purely commercial algorithms. 

These concerns are not just hypothetical: we and the other PSBs are already beginning to 
experience them across the market. 
 

There are already signs that global companies are changing their approach 

[✂] 

 

[✂]  

 

[✂] 

 

                                                      
30 https://www.viaccess-orca.com/blog/how-content-personalization-enhances-tv-experience  

Tudalen y pecyn 72

https://www.viaccess-orca.com/blog/how-content-personalization-enhances-tv-experience


 

 19 

 

[✂] 

[✂] 
 

A very real threat to PSB 

Over the past few decades, public policy has consistently sought to introduce more 
competition to the PSBs at every level of the value chain. For many years this made sense 
given the strong incumbent position they occupied. So, for instance:  

• Competing PSBs: ITV was created to break the BBC monopoly. Channel 4 was created 
to provide an additional alternative voice and Channel 5 followed later, further 
increasing competition among the PSBs; 

• Competing content producers: Channel 4 was also created to be a platform for 
content from the independent sector, which was further supported by the 
introduction of content commissioning quotas for ITV and the BBC, and regulated 
terms of trade allowing producers to retain the bulk of the secondary revenues 
raised from programmes commissioned by PSBs; 

• Competing infrastructure: whereas once there was only analogue television, there 
was a deliberate policy of encouraging competing TV infrastructure in satellite, cable 
and latterly IP; and 

• Competing broadcasters more generally: Multichannel subscription television on 
satellite and cable was encouraged and, coupled with the switch from analogue to 
digital television, resulted in the number of channels competing with PSB channels 
growing dramatically.  

This pro-competitive approach was fully justified and played a part in developing the 
successful, vibrant, creative sector we have today. But while the benefits of this have been 
significant but there have also been costs. In particular, the old approach to funding PSB 
genres of content based on the regulation of monopoly has not been sustainable. The 
inevitable result of the decline in the value of PSB licences has been a set of choices about 
which genres of programming to prioritise above others. This process has been analysed at 
length in successive Ofcom PSB reviews. 

As the chart below highlights we are increasingly moving from the familiar world of national 
multichannel TV to the more unfamiliar era of international online on-demand TV.  And, as 
we have set out above, the world is changing rapidly.  

Tudalen y pecyn 73



 

 20 

 
 

In an era of increasingly intense but asymmetric global competition, arguably the policy 
concerns today are rather different to those of the past few decades. The emerging concern 
today is not about the lack of competition to all-powerful, vertically-integrated PSBs within 
a predominantly domestic market, or about PSBs withholding content from vulnerable 
platforms.  

The concern going forwards will be how we can safeguard the flourishing PSB system we 
value so highly and which effectively serves citizens and consumers in the face of 
asymmetric competition from powerful, vertically-integrated global firms operating in a 
global market. At the heart of this will be the increasing inability of the PSBs to ensure that 
people can easily find and access the content they have paid for, directly or indirectly, that 
supports the UK’s economy, culture and democracy. This is an issue that is not just of 
concern in the UK but across Europe too.  

Across the value chain, global players will have powerful positions from content creation to 
distribution and devices, often vertically integrated or having powerful vertical relationships 
with other global players. They will benefit from global economies of scale, enabling them 
to invest more heavily in content, technology, marketing and partnership deals, and to 
recover their fixed costs across multiple territories. 

The ability of these firms to in large part dictate in future what content is surfaced and when 
to UK citizens and consumers represents a fundamental challenge to the continuing 
effectiveness of the PSB system in delivering the aims set for it by Parliament.  

Tudalen y pecyn 74



 

 21 

The power of the PSBs working collectively, notably through Freeview Play, have hitherto 
helped to some extent in negotiations with global players. This is particularly true at a time 
when many newer platform operators are still in the process of designing and optimising 
their user interfaces. [✂] 
 
Experience in the linear space suggests that once user interfaces have become firmly 
embedded, reinforced by global commercial contracts, it becomes increasingly difficult and 
disruptive to change their layout and the ordering of services within them31. Reform of the 
regime now, whilst the market is still taking shape, will help overcome the negative 
externalities outlined. Relying on intervention ex post will be exceptionally challenging, if 
not impossible. 

If left unchecked, over time, this dominance of content discovery by global firms directing 
the audience away from UK PSB content will have potentially serious implications: 
 

• It threatens the virtuous circle of investment in UK-focussed TV content: While some 
global firms may continue to invest in programmes made in the UK (albeit for the 
global market), it is the PSBs that are the engine room of UK-specific content 
creation for UK audiences.  

• It threatens investment in key genres: in the face of such a sizable threat and with 
PSB licenses that deliver less and less compensating value, UK broadcasters will need 
to increasingly focus on the most profitable genres, and on content with global 
appeal. This puts less profitable – or loss-making – PSB genres, particularly news, at 
risk (continuing a trend Ofcom has identified in consecutive PSB reviews) 

• It threatens the wider UK creative economy: PSBs, ITV included, are massive 
employers across the whole of the UK, it’s nations and its regions. If revenues and 
investment are reduced the impact will be felt well beyond the individual 
broadcasters, in the creative industries more broadly 

• It threatens our democracy and civil society: PSB content that helps people 
understand the world around them and informs debate will no longer be as widely 
provided or as easy for UK citizens to find. In an era of fake news and globalisation it 
is more important than ever that high quality, national PSB content remains highly 
prominent and easy to discover, delivered on mass-reach services that maximise 
impact and consumption. 

Concerted action by Ofcom and by Government is therefore needed to support the steps 
taken by the PSBs before these trends fundamentally alter the UK media ecology. 

  

                                                      
31 This is particularly the case for smart televisions given the lengthy replacement cycle (5-7 years) once purchased. 

Tudalen y pecyn 75



 

 22 

Section 2: Establishing a new framework for prominence 
The prominence regime needs to be reformed 

From the beginning of multichannel TV in the UK, Parliament has insisted that PSB services 
should be prominent on EPGs. The Communications Act 2003 ensures PSB channels are 
easily discoverable on Electronic Programme Guides (EPGs).  There are arguably three key 
benefits from this, which vary by PSB:  

• Increased impact and viewing of PSB content: Benefiting all of the PSBs, prominences 
helps ensure that PSB services are easy to find and highly visible. This increases the 
consumption of PSB programmes, so increasing the public value that they deliver. 
Competing PSB news services, for example, are easily visible and accessible, helping 
to support the debate that underpins democracy. 

• Increased revenue for Channel 4: as well as increased public value, higher viewing 
means greater advertising revenue for Channel 4. With its not-for-profit status, any 
additional revenues raised are available to Channel 4 to invest in the delivery of its 
public remit. 

• Sustaining the delivery of public value by the PSBs: ITV’s agreement to very 
substantial PSB obligations (particularly for news) above and beyond those of purely 
commercial broadcasters is critically reliant on the value in PSB licenses part of 
which is provided by the guarantee of prominence (as well as ring-fenced DTT 
spectrum). 

Ultimately, investment in new, original and popular content is the key to the PSBs’ success. 
Future success here is clearly in our own hands.  But that success has also been underpinned 
by the combination of a strong free-to-air, UK-controlled platform (Freeview) run by the 
PSBs and prominence for PSB services on all major platforms which has allowed the PSB 
system and wider creative ecology to flourish and grow. 

The importance of prominence remains but needs adapting in an era of global content 
production and distribution. Against this backdrop, Government must reform the EPG 
prominence intervention to reflect the changing market and ensure that UK PSB can 
compete effectively with global players. 

Last year, Government gave Ofcom a new duty (in the Digital Economy Act), to review the 
prominence of PSB content on TV and on-demand, committing to legislate if Ofcom 
concluded there was a problem. Ofcom has published its initial findings and its conclusion is 
unequivocal:  

“…If Parliament wishes for PSB to remain easy to find, then new legislation is 
needed to reflect the growth in television delivered via the internet.”  

We agree.  Hybrid platforms and EPGs are the new normal but in these connected 
environments prominence often rules do not fully apply. It is therefore essential that 
Government updates the prominence rules to ensure PSB remains easily discoverable in an 
intensely competitive global media market.  

Action is needed now, while these firms are still in the early stages of designing the products 
and user interfaces that will shape consumer behaviour in the decades to come. Action at a 

Tudalen y pecyn 76



 

 23 

later date, once these products are in every home, requiring these players to unpick their 
(often global) product designs, will be far harder (if not impossible) to achieve. 

There appears to be an emerging political consensus that change is now required. For 
instance, in Jeremy Wright’s speech at the recent RTS conference, he said that: 

“Younger viewers are more open to new technology and more receptive to new 
brands than any generation before them. This change in consumption habits is 
showing no sign of slowing down. So [the PSBs]  must reach them where they want to 
be reached. And they must find [PSB] where they expect [PSB] to be found.” 

We agree. Government can play a part in ensuring PSBs continue to deliver the aims set for 
them by Parliament by ensuring that PSB services are found where audiences expect them 
to be found. Action on prominence is a vital step in supporting the PSBs’ own actions and to 
deliver on the secretary of State’s welcome commitment to: 

“…ensure the government is playing [its] part in supporting the future of public 
service broadcasting at the very heart of our vibrant media sector.” 

 

A prominence regime that continues to deliver high levels of visibility for PSB content 

The degree of competition and innovation currently evident in the market, and the range of 
different UIs currently offered as a result, is to be welcomed. It is important that reform of 
the prominence regime does not dampen this process and that UK consumers benefit from 
the innovations that are emerging from global technology companies. 

However, at the same time, it is important that the major players in TV content distribution, 
both now and in future, who are investing heavily, have clarity about the degree of 
prominence that will be expected for PSB in the UK market. This will not inhibit innovation 
but will ensure that within that innovation PSB is built into the foundations. 

This means that the new regime should place the onus on UI providers to work with PSBs to 
deliver prominence that works with the grain of individual products and consumer 
expectations, giving them discretion as to how to implement the legal and regulatory 
requirements. 

We believe the most effective legislative updates will not be based on trying to predict what 
future technologies for finding and accessing content will look like. Instead, key outcomes 
should be enshrined in legislation, and include a right to significant prominence for PSBs. 
Specifically, this should include: 

• Significant prominence for all PSB linear services and associated on-demand services 
provided by a PSB (or several PSBs): The Secretary of State should maintain (and 
have the power to vary by Order) a list of these ‘in-scope services’. 

• Significant prominence on all major user interfaces: the regime should cover those 
who exercise editorial control of all user interfaces (UIs) on all major platforms, 
devices and services in the UK to consume TV or TV-like content. The Secretary of 

Tudalen y pecyn 77



 

 24 

State should have the power to vary this definition by Order. In the event of dispute 
about whether a UI is in-scope, Ofcom should determine.32 

The law should place a requirement on Ofcom to define ‘significant prominence’ within its 
guidance. It should also require Ofcom’s guidance to specify: 

• Which UI functions in-scope services should be prominent within, including (but not 
limited to) all those areas of UIs: 

o Positioned by the UI provider as central to the user experience: This will vary 
by UI as different providers emphasise different functionality, but is generally 
likely to include homepages, linear EPGs; VOD player landing pages; search 
and recommendations; or 

o Used by a substantial number of people to access TV or TV-like content: It is 
possible that areas of a UI are not prominently positioned but nonetheless 
have significant appeal to consumers33. Such functions are likely to include 
linear EPGs and VOD player landing pages. 

• The degree of prominence to be provided, including (but not limited to): 

o Where services are discoverable in their entirety (e.g. VOD app landing 
pages), in-scope services are easily discoverable and quick to access; and 

o Where individual pieces of content are discoverable as a result of editorial 
decisions and/or algorithmic curation, a substantial amount of such content 
should be immediately visible and attributable to the relevant PSB, and quick 
to access. The individual content displayed should be chosen by the relevant 
PSBs from the total catalogue of their in-scope services. 

 
In putting in place its guidance, Ofcom should be required to have regard to: 

• The need to deliver consumer benefit: High quality UK PSB content remains popular 
with UK audiences, and remains the bulk of content consumed despite the growth in 
choice. The prominence intervention should ensure that this popular content is not 
marginalised by global operators with an incentive to dilute consumer appetite for 
UK content over time and/or deliver global content deals and arrangements. 

• The need to deliver citizen benefit: it is important that UI and content providers are 
able to continue to innovate to meet the demands their consumers. Taking account 
of consumer expectations is a part of this. But it is equally important that the citizen 
interest is served, for instance by ensuring a wide range of content from the PSBs is 
promoted, so ensuring people are encouraged to watch content that delivers the 
purposes and characteristics of PSB that they might not ordinarily have chosen. 
Where such interests appear to be in tension, the citizen benefit should take 
precedence. 

                                                      
32 In considering what constitutes a ‘major platform’ Ofcom should have the discretion to take into account a range of factors as it sees 
appropriate, potentially including the number of users, the volume of viewing delivered, its importance to certain demographics, or its 
place in the wider market. 
33 For example, linear EPGs remain a popular way to access programmes yet a platform might choose to make the EPG much less 
prominent 

Tudalen y pecyn 78



 

 25 

• The need for prominence to be free and non-contingent: The degree of prominence 
offered by EPG operators should not be made contingent on other factors (e.g. 
prominence should not be reduced unless VOD rights are granted) or require 
payment by PSBs. 

• The importance of ensuring sufficient transparency: UI operators should be open 
with consumers and industry about how they decide which content to include in 
which areas of their UI, and how they choose to promote it. This should include not 
only decisions about PSB prominence but also any commercial arrangements (e.g. 
paid-for prominence), editorial decisions, and any data / algorithmic approaches 
taken. Such transparency is important in relation to all scheduling and promotion, 
whether PSB or non-PSB content and services. 

• The right of consumers to personalise: PSB prominence should not be enforced 
above audiences’ own direct actions (e.g. viewers should be free to set their own 
favourites menu or rearrange the order of apps on a page). Nor should prominence 
override requests for specific programme assets with a single possible outcome (e.g. 
‘show me episode 2, series 3 of…’). But in search with any ambiguity, where more 
than one outcome may be presented or served to consumers, prominence rules 
should apply. 

Such a regime can be implemented in a way that is both proportionate and effective, 
potentially functioning in a broadly similar manner to the way it does today (with some 
enhancements).  
 

The regime must provide clarity, with clearly defined roles for Government, regulator and 
UI providers 

Currently, the legislation is enabling. It delegates power to the Secretary of State to set the 
channels within scope and enables Ofcom to decide how to apply the code. We believe the 
legislation should be updated to reflect developments in the market: 

• Government: should retain enabling legislation, setting in law the required outcomes 
and giving the Secretary of State powers (after consulting Ofcom) to amend which 
services are in scope and the criteria by which user interfaces are assessed to be in 
scope so that the regime can be updated more easily as and when technology and 
audience needs and expectations change; 

• UI providers: should be given the space to design products that work for consumers 
and foster competition, but given clarity as they do so on the minimum expectations 
of PSB prominence that those products should deliver. The regime should amend the 
existing requirement from publishing an EPG Policy to publishing a UI policy. Policies 
should be required to set out how UI providers have taken account of the views of 
the providers of ‘in-scope services’ and Ofcom; and  

• Ofcom: should continue to hold responsibility for updating the prominence code, 
giving guidance as to practices to be followed, as it does today with the linear EPG 
code. It should determine whether user interfaces are in scope where there is 
disagreement. It should have a backstop role in compliance, taking firm action as 
necessary if either policies or outcomes do not comply with its code or guidance. 
Consideration should be given to the merits of requiring Ofcom to conduct reviews 

Tudalen y pecyn 79



 

 26 

of the effectiveness of the intervention, perhaps every 3-5 years. It should continue 
its role in relation to FRND for UI relationships beyond prominence. 

This approach will ensure that PSBs can continue to play their vital role in the UK’s 
democracy, culture and creative economy, whilst giving platforms and user interface 
operators the freedom to innovate. 
 

Ofcom is right to ensure the linear regime remains effective but should ensure that its 
proposals are proportionate 

ITV is clear and unequivocal in its support for appropriate prominence for PSB services.  
However, fourteen such services eligible for some form of prominence, clearly not all of 
these can be in the first slot or even on the first page. This means Ofcom’s judgment is 
required in considering what degree of prominence is appropriate and proportionate for 
each service.  

We agree with Ofcom’s approach to distinguish between the degree of prominence 
required for the main five channels versus the others. The five main PSBs carry the most 
onerous public obligations, invest the most heavily in meeting them, and are intended for 
consumption by everyone in the UK. They are also the most used and most popular. As 
such, the highest degree of prominence is merited. 

Ofcom’s proposal to ring-fence the first five slots in linear lists for the main channels is a 
sensible confirmation of the status quo but appears unlikely to deliver incremental public 
value. This is because a) the services are already in slots 1-5; and b) it is highly likely that, in 
linear lists, the combination of market dynamics in linear channel provision and the current 
high level requirement for ‘appropriate prominence’ would likely result in these channels 
retaining these positions due to their popularity with audiences and long history of being 
located in these slots. As such, whilst we certainly do not oppose such a requirement nor do 
we believe it offers any material additional benefit to us. 

Beyond the five main services, we believe Ofcom’s proposals do not strike quite the right 
balance between affording all PSBs some degree of prominence and minimising the impact 
on the market. As a result, the proposals are disproportionate. Our concerns, more 
specifically, are: 

• They will deliver little to no public benefit [✂]: Ofcom itself acknowledges that its 
proposals will only “…help secure…” or at best “…slightly increase…” the 
discoverability and viewing of the services in question. Set against this, [✂]. 

• They go against audience preferences in relation to nations and regions services: 
Ofcom’s own research shows that just 4% of adults across the UK place some 
importance on S4C and BBC Alba being easy to find in the TV guide on their TVs. This 
figure is higher for local TV but still very much a minority, at 22%. Such support 
cannot justify the degree of pan-UK prominence Ofcom proposes for these services 
in non-regionalised EPGs. Even where EPGs are regionalised, there is still not a high 
degree of support for prominence for S4C (just 22% of adults in Wales place some 
importance on the service being easy to find) or BBC Alba (12% of adults in Scotland 
in Scotland).  

• They go against audience behaviour: the small reach and share of the services Ofcom 
proposes to promote reflects in large part the value placed on them by UK 

Tudalen y pecyn 80



 

 27 

consumers as a whole. These services offer valuable niche content offer of strong 
appeal to a small subset of UK viewers. Given the distinctive nature of these services, 
and the lack of alternative sources of such content, all viewers who are likely to 
watch these channels are likely to seek them out regardless of EPG position.  

Such a disproportionate approach which, as we set out in more detail below, [✂], is 
particularly disappointing at a time when commercial television – and commercial PSB – is 
already under pressure in a market where competition for the audience and for advertising 
revenue is intensifying rapidly. 
 

Ofcom therefore needs to reduce the negative impact of its proposals on the market 

Ofcom states that “Public value benefits are qualitative and are challenging to quantify in 
any meaningful way” but that it nonetheless believes that the: “…proposals would help 
secure or slightly increase the discoverability and viewing to these nation specific and Local 
TV channels, thereby supporting the personal and public value created for the relevant 
audiences and better secure the policy objective of the prominence regime and our broader 
broadcasting duties.”34 It is unclear from the consultation document on what basis it has 
reached this view. 

Whilst increased prominence might result in a small degree of increased consumption, the 
other factors that drive consumption (that Ofcom itself has identified) such as channel 
brand, audience loyalty, and the quality or appeal of content will remain unaltered and act 
as major constraints to consumption growth. This is particularly true for channels in 
minority languages or offering distinctive special interest content. 

Whilst the increase in public value is therefore likely to be minimal, the proposals appear 
near-guaranteed [✂] 

It seems implausible that such changes could result in a growth in total TV consumption. 
The channels being promoted are somewhat niche in nature and, as such, already likely to 
be consumed by those with an interest. [✂].  

[✂]  

[✂], it is somewhat disappointing that while Ofcom states that it has “…had regard to the 
potential impacts of [its] proposal[s]…” it does not appear to have set out that assessment in 
its consultation document. While it has identified possible high-level impacts of the 
proposals overall (in paragraphs 5.7 and 5.8), it is not clear whether Ofcom has then gone 
on to consider the extent to which these factors apply to the proposals they put forward. 

Where it has published supporting data, in the form of the EMP report and its own 
economic model, they exclude any information of the impact of changes on the Freeview 
platform, the largest in the UK, due to a lack of slot trading. Indeed, Ofcom has been explicit 
that it has ”…not sought to quantify the potential impact of our proposals in relation to the 
Freesat or Freeview EPGs.”  

Absent a full impact assessment, ITV suggests that Ofcom should seek to mitigate the risk to 
the market by lowering the page threshold (or lower slot limit) from the first three to the 
first five pages. Such an approach would achieve Ofcom’s policy objective of prominence for 

                                                      
34 https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/116273/consultation-epg-code-prominence-regime.pdf 

Tudalen y pecyn 81



 

 28 

the smaller PSB services using “…the least intrusive means…,” in line with Ofcom’s own 
guidance.35 
  

                                                      
35 Ofcom. Better Policy Making: Ofcom’s approach to impact assessment. 

Tudalen y pecyn 82



 

 29 

Section 3: Response to Ofcom’s consultation questions 
Q1) Do you agree with our proposals that the main five PSB channels hold the top five slots 
on EPGs provided UK wide or in the UK outside of Wales?  

The proportionality of any proposed changes might be assessed by considering the balance 
between the delivery of the policy goals set for each individual service by Parliament versus 
the associated impact on the broader market. Such an approach could consider the scale of 
obligations attached to PSB services, the level of investment in the content they produce, 
and the size of their target audience.  

On this basis, we agree with Ofcom’s approach to distinguish between the degree of 
prominence required for the main five channels versus the others. The five main PSBs carry 
the most onerous public obligations, invest the most heavily in meeting them, and are 
intended for consumption by everyone in the UK. They are also the most used and most 
popular. As such, the highest degree of prominence is merited. 

Crucially, though, while it should be open to Ofcom to put in place a regime that 
distinguishes between different levels of PSB provision or different levels of consumption 
etc, once Ofcom’s requirements are in place it should not be for UI operators to judge 
further the relative value of different types of PSB obligations or the ‘PSB-ness’ of different 
services within their UI policies. 

The proposal to ring-fence the first five slots in linear lists for the main channels is a sensible 
confirmation of the status quo but appears unlikely to deliver incremental public value. This 
is because a) the services are already in slots 1-5; and b) it is highly likely that, in linear lists, 
the combination of market dynamics in linear channel provision and the current high level 
requirement for ‘appropriate prominence’ would likely result in these channels retaining 
these positions due to their popularity with audiences and long history of being located in 
these slots. As such, whilst we certainly do not oppose such a requirement nor do we 
believe it offers any material additional benefit to us. 
 

Q2) Do you agree that on EPGs provided for viewers specifically in Wales BBC One, BBC Two 
and the relevant Channel 3 service should take the top three slots, with S4C in slot four, 
Channel 5 in slot five and Channel 4 guaranteed a position on the first page?  

ITV would welcome clarification that Ofcom does not believe there are any circumstances 
where it would consider the position of the main PSB channels in the first five slots as open 
to question. Were this not the case it would negate any conceivable benefit Ofcom intends 
from the introduction of ring-fencing or minimum requirements in the first place.  

Such an approach could also open the door for UIs to leave PSB services in insufficiently 
prominent positions if that’s where they have historically been – a concern that would 
appear particularly pertinent in relation to where VOD services are placed ahead of 
legislative reform, given this might create an incentive to fill up home screens before any 
new regime comes in. 
 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 83



 

 30 

Q3) Do you agree that BBC Four should be guaranteed a slot within the top three pages of 
all EPGs?  

Q4) Do you agree that the designated public service News channels (currently BBC News 
and BBC Parliament) should be guaranteed slots on the first page of the news genre section 
or an equivalent position within the grouping of news channels on the EPG, as applicable?  

Q5) Do you agree that CBeebies and CBBC should have guaranteed slots on the first page of 
the Children’s genre or area of the EPG, as applicable?  

We agree with the underlying principle behind the proposals, guaranteeing a degree of 
prominence for these services commensurate with the scale of their obligations and original 
UK content investment while remaining proportionate in light of BBC’s funding model and 
potential impact on the broader market. This is particularly important in relation to news 
and children’s TV, where the economics of provision are sensitive and market provision 
should be disrupted as little as possible while meeting policy goals. 

However, we do not believe that ‘number of pages’ is the most meaningful or effective way 
in which to define the intended outcome. We unpack this further in answer to questions 6-
9, where the issue of ‘number of pages’ is particularly relevant. 
 

Q6) Do you agree that S4C, BBC Alba, and BBC Scotland should be guaranteed prominence 
within the first three pages of UK wide EPGs?  

Q7) Do you agree that local TV should be guaranteed prominence within the first three 
pages of UK wide EPGs? 

Q8) Do you agree that S4C, BBC Alba, and BBC Scotland should be guaranteed prominence 
within the first three pages of relevant Nation specific EPGs e.g. S4C in Wales, BBC Alba and 
BBC Scotland in Scotland?  

Q9) Do you agree that local TV should be guaranteed prominence within the first three 
pages of relevant regionalised EPGs?  

ITV does not entirely agree with these proposals. We believe Ofcom should consider in 
more detail whether the likely benefit of their approach is proportionate relative to the 
impact on others.  

As Ofcom has previously noted, local TV services are unlikely to be in a position to increase 
the delivery of their obligations any time soon. Indeed, the direction of travel for local 
television appears to be to reduce licence commitments. Despite very significant 
prominence on DTT, local TV still achieved only 0.15% share in 2017. 

BBC Alba and S4C’s obligations and revenues are unlikely to be positively and materially 
impacted by the proposals, as people interested in these services are highly likely to already 
be aware of them and viewing.  

While the citizen benefit of such proposals is therefore marginal, [✂]. 

This is particularly the case on non-regionalised guides, where the proposals result in the 
first three pages being disproportionately full of content not of interest to most UK 
audiences (e.g. S4C, Alba and BBC Scotland across England).   Outside of the particular 
nation in which the particular service should be prominent, platforms should be free to take 

Tudalen y pecyn 84



 

 31 

into account the interests of the viewer experience in deciding whether such focussed 
national services should in fact be visible at the prominent national EPG position across the 
UK.    

The impact of these proposals (and those in relation to BBC Four above) are exacerbated by 
the fact that on major TV platforms the number of channels per page varies widely. This is 
particularly the case for Freeview (which represents 47% of all TV viewing36) and Freesat, 
where the number of channels per page ranges between five and nine. We understand 
similar challenges occur on Sky and Virgin Media boxes. It is unclear how Ofcom’s proposals 
are intended to apply to the millions of devices in people’s homes. With as few as five 
channels per page on some devices, to achieve compliance in all cases could require eleven 
PSB services (BBC One, BBC Two, ITV/STV, C4, C5, BBC Four, BBC Alba, BBC Scotland, S4C, 
BBC Scotland and local TV) to be included within the first 15 slots of general entertainment 
menus. This outcome appears disproportionate. 

We suggest a more practical and proportionate approach is adopted, such as a specific slot 
‘floor’ below which services may not be listed (e.g. ‘must be listed no lower than slot 25’).  

If Ofcom decides to persist with a focus on pages then it will need to clarify how such rules 
apply in relation to services with a range of channels per page. Were Ofcom to require 
compliance on all devices, we would suggest that inclusion within the first five pages rather 
than first three would be more appropriate. Such an approach would arguably deliver a 
similar degree of benefit for these specialist services whilst ensuring Ofcom has chosen 
“…the least intrusive means of achieving [its] objectives…”37 as it is committed to doing. 

A similar approach might apply to the launch of new services. If a compliant slot is 
unavailable, new channels could be offered the highest available slot at launch and 
promoted over time. 

As set out above, regardless of the approach Ofcom ultimately decides to adopt, if it wishes 
to proceed with such changes it should consult on a full assessment of both the incremental 
public value created by its proposals and the likely impact on the market. Currently its 
proposals are disproportionate. 
 

Q10) Do you agree with our proposals to ensure prominence for either the SD or HD version 
of BBC channels rather than both?  

Q11) Do you agree with our proposals to allow broadcasters to swap HD simulcast variants 
of their SD designated channels, such that those HD variants could occupy the slots which 
the SD channels would be entitled to?  

There are a number of considerations in relation to the SD/HD swapping issue.  These 
include the extent to which there are legacy SD receivers/TVs still being used at scale, and 
the ability of the channel/platform to deal with expensive and complex regionality 
requirements. 

In addition, ITV offers HD variants of its services on a purely commercial basis, which is an 
important revenue stream for PSB channel operators. While HD take-up is increasing, we 

                                                      
36 http://www.digitaluk.co.uk/policy/research_and_reports/digital_uk_update_2018/facts_and_stats  
37 Ofcom, Better Policy Making. https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0029/45596/condoc.pdf  

Tudalen y pecyn 85

http://www.digitaluk.co.uk/policy/research_and_reports/digital_uk_update_2018/facts_and_stats
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0029/45596/condoc.pdf


 

 32 

are nonetheless likely to be operating in a mixed economy for some time. It therefore 
makes sense for a degree of pragmatism to be taken in relation to the application of 
prominence rules where platforms and PSBs are in agreement about which PSB service 
should be given prominence.  

However, it is important that such pragmatism does not undermine over time the absolute, 
legally enshrined prominence afforded to the SD channels. If platforms wish to agree with 
the PSB to swap the HD with the SD version this should be negotiated and not mandated.  
 

Q12) Do you agree with our proposal to provide a 12 month transition period once the Code 
is finalised?  

Some period of time is clearly needed, following the publication of Ofcom’s revised EPG 
Code, for EPG providers to implement the required changes. Specifically, EPG providers will 
need to: 

a) Revise their EPG Policies (in consultation with industry);  
b) Deal with any possible legal challenges; 
c) Communicate forthcoming changes to viewers; and 
d) Implement changes to channel listings (as required by their revised Policies). 

Given Ofcom is not mandating specific slots for each PSB services on each platform, a 
degree of discretion is left with EPG providers. Ofcom is therefore right to consider an 
extended time period for the implementation of the requirements of its new Code. This will 
allow channel and EPG operators time to consider what form revised policies might take, 
what form of channel reordering (or, indeed, EPG restructuring more broadly, such as genre 
changes or regionalisation) would be required as a result, and the potential to mitigate the 
impact of this on their platforms and third party services as best they can. Sufficient time 
should be given to allow EPG providers to explore options that are both compliant with 
Ofcom’s Code and in line with consumer expectations. 

However, 12 months is not a sufficient amount of time to do this. We know, for instance, 
that reorganisations on DTT have taken 18 months to two years in the past. At most, Ofcom 
should specify a backstop of two years to complete any changes. 

However, we believe a better approach would be for Ofcom to allow compliance to be 
delivered over time via a ‘right to promotion’ for any PSB services in non-compliant slots (as 
is the case with DUK’s current policy) as and when higher slots become vacant. This would 
achieve the same objectives over time but without the disruption for viewers and the 
market that would result from a forced reshuffle. If Ofcom requires services to be ‘bumped’ 
to accommodate PSB services then it should be explicit about this – and assess the impact of 
such a requirement fully. 
 

Q13) Do you think that the prominence regime should be extended to ensure EPGs 
themselves can be easily found? 

Yes. It is critical that PSB services are prominent within UIs as a whole, as our detailed 
proposals above make clear. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 86



 

 33 

Q14) Do you agree with the broad range of factors for consideration we have identified? Are 
there other factors that policy makers should consider?  

ITV agrees broadly with the factors for consideration as set out by Ofcom. We have followed 
these in developing our detailed proposals for a reformed regime as set out above.  
 
What degree of prominence is desirable and what metrics should define prominence? 

ITV would urge caution in seeking to develop a regime based on “metrics [that] define 
prominence” as Ofcom suggests. It is difficult to be too prescriptive about what ‘significant 
prominence’ should look like. It is therefore desirable that the regime avoids being unduly 
restrictive in this sense.  

A reliance on simplistic universal metrics such as ‘clicks’, whilst appearing superficially 
attractive at first glance, risks a regime that is compliant in letter but misses the much wider 
and subtler influence of UI design on content discovery and user behaviour. 

Instead we propose above a regime that defines the outcomes to be delivered and places 
the onus on user interface operators to set out how such outcomes will be delivered in the 
context of their own services. 

UI operators should be open with consumers and industry about how they decide which 
content to include in which areas of their UI, and how they choose to promote it. This 
should include not only decisions about PSB prominence but also any commercial 
arrangements (e.g. paid-for prominence), editorial decisions, and any data / algorithmic 
approaches taken. Such transparency is important in relation to all scheduling and 
promotion, whether PSB or non-PSB content and services. 
 
What types of content should benefit from prominence? 

As set out above, we believe significant prominence should be required for all PSB linear 
services and associated on-demand services provided by one of more PSBs. The Secretary of 
State should maintain (and have the power to vary by Order) a list of these ‘in-scope 
services’. We expand on this further in response to question 16 below. 
 
What platforms, services or devices should be captured? 

The regime should cover those who exercise editorial control of all user interfaces (UIs) on 
all major platforms, devices and services in the UK to consume TV or TV-like content. The 
Secretary of State should have the power to vary this definition by Order. In the event of 
dispute about whether a UI is in-scope, Ofcom should determine. 

This would ensure that established, regulated platforms (such as Sky and Virgin Media) 
would remain within scope, but that major players currently outside of scope (such as 
Amazon’s Firestick and Samsung’s smart TVs) would be brought within scope.  

Standalone content services (such as Netflix) carrying only their own content or that 
acquired from others would remain out of scope for now. 
 
What elements of navigation interfaces should be included? 

The law should place a requirement on Ofcom to define ‘significant prominence’ within its 
guidance, and require such guidance to include (but not limited to): 

Tudalen y pecyn 87



 

 34 

• Which UI functions in-scope services should be prominent within, including (but not 
limited to) all those areas of UIs: 

o Positioned by the UI provider as central to the user experience: This will vary 
by UI as different providers emphasise different functionality, but is generally 
likely to include homepages, linear EPGs; VOD player landing pages; search 
and recommendations; or 

o Used by a substantial number of people to access TV or TV-like content: It is 
possible that areas of a UI are not prominently positioned but nonetheless 
have significant appeal to consumers38. Such functions are likely to include 
linear EPGs and VOD player landing pages. 

• The degree of prominence to be provided, including (but not limited to): 

o Where services are discoverable in their entirety (e.g. VOD app landing 
pages), in-scope services are easily discoverable and quick to access; and 

o Where individual pieces of content are discoverable as a result of editorial 
decisions and/or algorithmic curation, a substantial amount of such content 
should be immediately visible and attributable to the relevant PSB, and quick 
to access. The individual content displayed should be chosen by the relevant 
PSBs from the total catalogue of their in-scope services. 

 

Q15) Do you agree with the principles we have set out? Are there other principles that 
should be considered? 

ITV agrees that basing the regime on a set of enduring principles is sensible. However, we 
are concerned that Ofcom’s principles are somewhat too limited and negative in nature. As 
a result, they risk diluting the regime and offering UI providers a method to avoid ensuring 
appropriate prominence for PSB services. We have suggested above a broader set of 
overarching outcomes and principles which should be introduced through legislation and 
developed further through regulation. 

We are concerned by Ofcom’s characterisation of the ‘promotion of programmes based 
purely on personal preferences’ as somehow akin to ‘active consumer choice’. There are 
broadly only two categories into which consumer behavior falls: 

1. A precise and unambiguous choice: where a consumer knows exactly what they are 
looking for and makes a specific request (or follows a pre-determined series of 
actions in their UI which they know will deliver the programme they want) 

2. All other search and browsing behaviour: the more normal approach in a world of 
potentially overwhelming choice, browsing by channel type, brand, content genre or 
terms such as ‘something entertaining’. 

The clarity of search required for category 1 to apply is rare. Even a search such as Sherlock 
Holmes could legitimately encompass the latest series of Sherlock on BBC One, catch up on 

                                                      
38 For example, linear EPGs remain a popular way to access programmes yet a platform might choose to make the EPG much less 
prominent 

Tudalen y pecyn 88



 

 35 

BBC iPlayer, repeats of a previous series on another linear channel, Elementary on Sky, or a 
number of films potentially available live, in box sets or in online stores. 

It is category 2 that constitutes that vast majority of content discovery. And it is this on 
which modern UIs are focused – intending to remove doubt or ambiguity, to present 
‘choice’ but in a manner which is in fact heavily guided and curated. 

In those limited instances where a consumer does legitimately search for something 
unambiguously returning a single result, that search should not be undermined either by 
PSB prominence or platform choices.  

But in reality, the distinction is likely to be less clear cut. For instance, other programmes 
will be suggested alongside the searched-for result or legitimate results may be available 
from both PSB and non-PSB providers. 

‘Personal preferences’ is a potentially broad definition. This could cover, for instance, a 
‘preference’ for drama, for a particular sports team, or for programmes starring a certain 
actor. Serving recommendations or programme results in relation to these preferences will 
still require a high degree of intervention and choice (whether editorial or algorithmic) by 
the UI provider.  

Inherent within the very existence of a prominence regime is the idea that a reliance on 
consumer preferences only will not deliver the intended policy results. The regime needs to 
allows for both consumer and citizen needs to be met and balanced. As such, consumer 
preference is an unhelpful principle against which to judge prominence and offers scope for 
UI providers to ignore the intent of the regime. 

Transparency is an important consideration. But it is unclear to ITV why it is only the PSBs – 
and associated search results – that should be made transparent. UI providers should need 
to be transparent about why any given search result is served, whether due to prominence 
rules, a commercial deal with a global content service provider, or data-driven analytics. 
Such transparency does not necessarily need to appear on-screen, but could instead be 
provided within the policies of UI providers. This would allow for due scrutiny of 
prominence decisions without unduly negatively impacting on either the consumer 
experience or, in the case of Ofcom’s suggestion, the reputation of PSB. 
 

Q16) Do you think that the prominence regime should be extended to ensure PSB Players 
can be easily found? 

We support the extension of the regime beyond linear services: it is in line with consumer 
behaviour, technological changes, and evolving market norms. It would support the 
continued effectiveness of the PSB system in meeting the goals set for it by Parliament – 
and be in line with the direction of travel indicated by Ofcom in its recent statement on the 
future of PSB. 

Prominence has traditionally attached to individual licenced linear services, packaged and 
controlled by the PSBs. It is also straightforward to identify the standalone VOD services 
provided by PSBs (whether individually or, potentially, in partnership).  It is these services, 
packaged and controlled by the PSBs, clearly and appropriately branded, that should be 
granted appropriate prominence throughout UIs. Those on demand services contain most if 
not all of the PSB content broadcast so their inclusion within the prominence regime is a 

Tudalen y pecyn 89



 

 36 

logical extension of the current regime as consumption habits change. The bulk of the 
impact will be increased PSB delivery as the majority of viewing on ITV Hub is to content 
first shown on the linear PSB service. Such an approach is more straightforward than either 
brand prominence or individual programme prominence. 

This will require technical support for non-linear services. Just as UIs are currently required 
to carry PSB linear services in full – including not only the individual programmes but also 
the full schedule of programmes as broadcast, the adverts within and between 
programmes, subtitles, audio description, red button functionality, regionalisation etc – so 
we would expect the same to apply in the non-linear space. The ITV Hub service, for 
instance, includes the prevention of ad-skipping, full Hub functionality, dynamic ad 
insertion, and control of end user data. This should be the default position for platforms and 
is key to the future sustainability of PSB. 

Ofcom is concerned that audiences are confused about the different regulatory systems for 
linear versus VOD content, and the potential for extending VOD prominence to the non-
linear space to make this worse. ITV views this as an exaggerated problem: PSBs are highly 
responsible, with the vast majority of content having previously been carried on linear 
services. The issue that needs addressing is surely that entirely unregulated video services 
are appearing on our TV screens. Ofcom’s recent statements on internet regulation are to 
be applauded in this context. The boundary is blurring faster than ever and will continue to 
do so regardless of whether PSB’s are granted non-linear prominence. 
 

Q17) Do you think that the prominence regime should be extended to ensure PSB content 
can be easily found via recommendations and / or search? If so, what key parameters would 
you set for this aspect of the regime? 

As set out in answer to question 14, we believe caution should be exercised in seeking to 
too-tightly define what prominence means across the board. Instead, the onus should be on 
UI providers to determine what prominence means in their particular circumstance. To the 
extent to which search and recommendation functions are integral parts of the UI 
experience, then PSB content and services should be prominent within them. 
 

Q18) Do you think that the prominence regime should be extended to platforms and devices 
not currently captured by the EPG prominence regime? If so, how do you think the regime 
could be extended and who should be captured? 

Q19) Do you think that the prominence regime should be extended to online services? If so, 
who should be captured? 

As set out in our suggested principles above, we agree that the prominence requirements 
should apply to all major user interfaces. Such a regime should be technologically neutral 
and, subject to any scale thresholds, UIs should be caught regardless of the device they are 
carried on (whether TVs, streaming boxes or devices, mobiles, tablets etc) and how they are 
delivered (i.e. DTT, satellite, cable, IP).  

In the event that a consumer has access to multiple UIs (e.g. a smart TV or the Firestick 
plugged into it), there is no need to ‘choose’ which is the responsible party, as Ofcom 
suggests. Both are UI operators, both are competing to control content discovery, both are 

Tudalen y pecyn 90



 

 37 

providing access to PSB services, and both fall within the definition of a UI, and so both 
should provide prominence within those elements of their products within their control. To 
the extent to which they share control, the onus should be on such providers to agree a 
shared solution. 

The current definition of UI excludes standalone services offering only their own content or 
content acquired commercially under license (e.g. Netflix). We believe that such an 
outcome is acceptable for now, although the Secretary of State should be given powers to 
vary the definition of UI by Order should market developments make the proposed 
framework ineffective. 

To the extent that social media services develop to focus on the discovery and distribution 
of TV and/or TV-like content, and meet the thresholds for regulation we have suggested, 
they would clearly come into scope sooner rather than later.  

Away from the current Ofcom consultation, which is focused on TV and TV-like content 
services and platforms, there is a different debate to be had about the prominence of 
reliable news on social media and other internet platforms in an era of fake news and filter 
bubbles. This is a critical debate for the future which may be addressed in the Cairncross 
Review. However, it is separate from the current debate about TV content. 

Tudalen y pecyn 91



                      

 
Ofcom’s EPG prominence consultation 

Joint PSB position paper 
 
Establishing a new framework for prominence 
The PSBs continue to strongly support the principle of prominence for linear PSB television 
channels and welcome Ofcom’s review of the extent to which this is delivered. But 
globalisation is fundamentally changing the media landscape. Technological change is 
facilitating intense global competition. Global online platforms and global TV distributors 
are playing an ever-increasing role in content distribution and discovery, attempting to 
disintermediate UK players. To address this growing threat, the critical priority on which the 
PSBs are agreed is to update legislation to modernise the current prominence regime by 
extending it beyond linear television and linear EPGs. 

We believe the most effective legislative updates will not be based on trying to predict what 
future technologies for finding and accessing content will look like. Instead, key outcomes 
should be enshrined in legislation, and include a right to significant prominence for PSBs. 
Specifically, this should include: 

• Significant prominence for all PSB linear services and associated on-demand services 
provided by a PSB (or several PSBs): The Secretary of State should maintain (and 
have the power to vary by Order) a list of these ‘in-scope services’. 

• Significant prominence on all major user interfaces: the regime should cover those 
who exercise editorial control of all user interfaces (UIs) on all major platforms, 
devices and services in the UK to consume TV or TV-like content. The Secretary of 
State should have the power to vary this definition by Order. In the event of dispute 
about whether a UI is in-scope, Ofcom should determine.1 

The law should place a requirement on Ofcom to define ‘significant prominence’ within its 
guidance. It should also require Ofcom’s guidance to specify: 

• Which UI functions in-scope services should be prominent within, including (but not 
limited to) all those areas of UIs: 

o Positioned by the UI provider as central to the user experience: This will vary 
by UI as different providers emphasise different functionality, but is generally 
likely to include homepages, linear EPGs; VOD player landing pages; search 
and recommendations; or 

o Used by a substantial number of people to access TV or TV-like content: It is 
possible that areas of a UI are not prominently positioned but nonetheless 
have significant appeal to consumers2. Such functions are likely to include 
linear EPGs and VOD player landing pages. 

                                                      
1 In considering what constitutes a ‘major platform’ Ofcom should have the discretion to take into account a range of factors as it sees 
appropriate, potentially including the number of users, the volume of viewing delivered, its importance to certain demographics, or its 
place in the wider market. 
2 For example, linear EPGs remain a popular way to access programmes yet a platform might chose to make the EPG much less prominent 

Tudalen y pecyn 92



• The degree of prominence to be provided, including (but not limited to): 

o Where services are discoverable in their entirety (e.g. VOD app landing 
pages), in-scope services are easily discoverable and quick to access; and 

o Where individual pieces of content are discoverable as a result of editorial 
decisions and/or algorithmic curation, a substantial amount of such content 
should be immediately visible and attributable to the relevant PSB, and quick 
to access. The individual content displayed should be chosen by the relevant 
PSBs from the total catalogue of their in-scope services. 

 
In putting in place its guidance, Ofcom should be required to have regard to: 

• The need to deliver consumer benefit: High quality UK PSB content remains popular 
with UK audiences, and remains the bulk of content consumed despite the growth in 
choice. The prominence intervention should ensure that this popular content is not 
marginalised by global operators with an incentive to dilute consumer appetite for 
UK content over time and/or deliver global content deals and arrangements. 

• The need to deliver citizen benefit: it is important that UI and content providers are 
able to continue to innovate to meet the demands their consumers. Taking account 
of consumer expectations is a part of this. But it is equally important that the citizen 
interest is served, for instance by ensuring a wide range of content from the PSBs is 
promoted, so ensuring people are encouraged to watch content that delivers the 
purposes and characteristics of PSB that they might not ordinarily have chosen. 
Where such interests appear to be in tension, the citizen benefit should take 
precedence. 

• The need for prominence to be free and non-contingent: The degree of prominence 
offered by EPG operators should not be made contingent on other factors (e.g. 
prominence should not be reduced unless VOD rights are granted) or require 
payment by PSBs. 

• The importance of ensuring sufficient transparency: UI operators should be open 
with consumers and industry about how they decide which content to include in 
which areas of their UI, and how they choose to promote it. This should include not 
only decisions about PSB prominence but also any commercial arrangements (e.g. 
paid-for prominence), editorial decisions, and any data / algorithmic approaches 
taken. Such transparency is important in relation to all scheduling and promotion, 
whether PSB or non-PSB content and services. 

• The right of consumers to personalise: PSB prominence should not be enforced 
above audiences’ own direct actions (e.g. viewers should be free to set their own 
favourites menu or rearrange the order of apps on a page). Nor should prominence 
override requests for specific programme assets with a single possible outcome (e.g. 
‘show me episode 2, series 3 of…’). But in search with any ambiguity, where more 
than one outcome may be presented or served to consumers, prominence rules 
should apply. 

Such a regime can be implemented in a way that is both proportionate and effective, 
potentially functioning in a broadly similar manner to the way it does today (with some 
enhancements). Currently, the legislation is enabling. It delegates power to the Secretary of 

Tudalen y pecyn 93



State to set the channels within scope and enables Ofcom to decide how to apply the code. 
We believe the legislation should be updated to reflect developments in the market: 

• Government: should retain enabling legislation, setting in law the required outcomes 
and giving the Secretary of State powers (after consulting Ofcom) to amend which 
services are in scope and the criteria by which user interfaces are assessed to be in 
scope so that the regime can be updated more easily as and when technology and 
audience needs and expectations change; 

• UI providers: should be given the space to design products that work for consumers 
and foster competition, but given clarity as they do so on the minimum expectations 
of PSB prominence that those products should deliver. The regime should amend the 
existing requirement from publishing an EPG Policy to publishing a UI policy. Policies 
should be required to set out how UI providers have taken account of the views of 
the providers of ‘in-scope services’ and Ofcom; and  

• Ofcom: should continue to hold responsibility for updating the prominence code, 
giving guidance as to practices to be followed, as it does today with the linear EPG 
code. It should determine whether user interfaces are in scope where there is 
disagreement. It should have a backstop role in compliance, taking firm action as 
necessary if either policies or outcomes do not comply with its code or guidance. 
Consideration should be given to the merits of requiring Ofcom to conduct reviews 
of the effectiveness of the intervention, perhaps every 3-5 years. It should continue 
its role in relation to FRND for UI relationships beyond prominence. 

Tudalen y pecyn 94


	Agenda
	2 Craffu ar waith y Dirprwy Weinidog Diwylliant, Chwaraeon a Thwristiaeth - yr  Archif Ddarlledu Genedlaethol
	Gwybodaeth ychwanegol gan Lyfrgell Genedlaethol Cymru
	Gohebiaeth rhwng Llywodraeth Cymru a Llyfrgell Genedlaethol Cymru
	1
	Correspondence - 2018.07.19 - DET0057418 Outgoing (c)
	Correspondence - 2018.08.13 (c) MA-P-DET-2863-18 DET i Lywydd Llyfrgell ...
	Correspondence - 2018.11.20 MA-P-DET-4056-18 DET i Rhodri Glyn Thomas (c...
	CWLC Cttee - Evidence Paper - National Broadcast Archive - Cy


	3 Cefnogi a hybu'r Gymraeg: Ymchwiliad i'r cyd-destun deddfwriaethol, polisi ac ehangach: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 8
	Ymateb gan Conffederasiwn Gig Cymru - Saesneg yn Unig
	Ymateb gan Betsi Cadwaladr Bwrdd lechyd Prifysgol

	4 Cefnogi a hybu'r Gymraeg: Ymchwiliad i'r cyd-destun deddfwriaethol, polisi ac ehangach: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 9
	5.1 Ymateb ITV Cymru Wales i ymgynghoriad Ofcom ar Ganllawiau Rhaglenni Electronig
	ITV
	Ofcom’s EPG prominence consultation
	ITV PLC’s response
	Summary
	PSB is highly valued by citizens and consumers
	Section 1: Context
	PSB is critical to our democracy, to our culture and to our economy
	PSB is highly valued by citizens and consumers
	Globalisation is fundamentally changing the media landscape
	Concerted action by Ofcom and by Government is therefore needed to support the steps taken by the PSBs before these trends fundamentally alter the UK media ecology.
	Section 2: Establishing a new framework for prominence
	Section 3: Response to Ofcom’s consultation questions

	PSBs
	Ofcom’s EPG prominence consultation
	Joint PSB position paper
	Establishing a new framework for prominence





